
 

Borough of Telford and Wrekin 

Cabinet 

Thursday 16 March 2023 

10.00 am 

The Telford Room, Addenbrooke House, Ironmasters Way, Telford, TF3 

4NT 

   

 

Democratic Services: 

 

Jayne Clarke / Stacey 

Worthington 

01952 383205 / 384382 

Media Enquiries: 

 

Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer: 

 

David Sidaway - Chief Executive 01952 380130 

 

Cabinet Members:  

Councillor S Davies Leader of the Council 

Councillor R A Overton Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member: Housing, Enforcement and 
Transport 

Councillor A J Burford Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care and Health, Integration and 
Transformation 

Councillor E M Callear Cabinet Member: Visitor Economy, Employment and Skills 

Councillor L D Carter Cabinet Member: Neighbourhood Services, Regeneration and the 
High Street 

Councillor R C Evans Cabinet Member: Finance, Governance and Customer Services 

Councillor C Healy Cabinet Member: Climate Change, Green Spaces, Natural and 
Historic Environment and Cultural Services 

Councillor K Middleton Cabinet Member: Leisure, Public Health and Well-Being, Equalities 
and Partnerships 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

Councillor S A W Reynolds Cabinet Member: Children, Young People, and Families 

Councillor P Watling Cabinet Member: Stronger and Safer Communities 

Invitees  

Councillor A J Eade  

 
Conservative  

Councillor W L Tomlinson  Liberal Democrat  

 
 Agenda Page 

 
1.0   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 

2.0   Declarations of Interest 
 
 

 

3.0   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
 

3 - 14 

4.0   Leader's Announcements 
 
 

 

5.0   Cost of Living Strategy Update 
Cllr Shaun Davies: Leader 
To receive an update on the Cost of Living Strategy. 
 

15 - 36 

6.0   Invest Telford Performance Report 
Cllr Lee Carter - Cabinet Member: Neighbourhood Services, 
Regeneration and the High Street 
To receive the performance report of the Invest Telford Scheme.  
 

37 - 56 

7.0   Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer 
Cllr Shirley Reynolds - Cabinet Member: Children, Young People and 
Families 
To receive the report on the Protected Characteristics for Care Leavers and 
the Local Offer.  
 

57 - 104 

8.0   Safer And Stronger Neighbourhoods Through The Appropriate Use Of 
Our Enforcement Powers 
Cllr Richard Overton - Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member: Housing, 
Enforcement and Transport 
To receive the report on Safer and Stronger Neighbourhoods Through 
Appropriate Use of Our Enforcement Powers. 
 

105 - 118 

 
 

Page 2



 

 

CABINET 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 16 February 2023 

at 10.00 am in The Telford Room, Addenbrooke House, Ironmasters Way, 
Telford, TF3 4NT 

 
PUBLISHED ON WEDNESDAY 22 FEBRUARY 2023 

 
(DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: MONDAY 27 FEBRUARY 2023) 

 
 
Present: Councillors S Davies (Chair), R A Overton (Vice-Chair), A J Burford, 
E M Callear, L D Carter, R C Evans, C Healy, K Middleton, S A W Reynolds 
and P Watling.  
 
Also Present:   Cllr A J Eade (Conservative Group Leader) and Cllr 
W L Tomlinson (Liberal Democrats Group Leader) 
 
CAB-
209 

Declarations of Interest 

 
None.  
 
CAB-
210 

Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

 
RESOLVED- that the minutes of the meeting held on 11 January 2023 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair. 
 
CAB-
211 

Leader's Announcements 

 
None. 
 
CAB-
212 

Financial Monitoring 2022/23 

 
The Cabinet Member: Finance, Governance & Customer Services presented 
the report of the Director: Finance & Human Resources. The report outlined 
the latest financial monitoring position relating to the revenue budget, capital 
programme and income collection. 
 

The report highlighted the current pressures faced nationally due to soaring 
inflation rates and the cost of living crisis. The ongoing impacts of the 
coronavirus pandemic continued to be felt. Before application of 
contingencies, the projected outturn position was expected to be over budget 
by £4.627m by the year end, however, by using contingencies, the overall 
position would be brought back into balance.  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

The report outlined a number of variations from the approved budget, which 
mostly related to increased costs due to inflationary pressures.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) The 2022/23 revenue budget position be noted; 
b) The position in relation to capital spend be noted; 
c) The collection rates for NNDR, council tax and sales ledger be 

noted. 
 
CAB-
213 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 – 2026/27 

 
The Cabinet Member: Finance, Governance & Customer Services presented 
the report of the Director: Finance & Human Resources. The report detailed 
the Revenue Budget, medium term Capital Strategy and Programme, the 
Investment and Treasury Management Strategies and Prudential Indicators.  
The report sought approval of the Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
for the four years 2023/24-2026/27.  
 
On 3 March 2022 the Council approved the current Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) for the four year period up to 2025/26. Since the Strategy 
had been set, there had been a significant increase in demand for key 
services and higher costs relating to these services, particularly around adult 
social care and energy costs. 
 
There were significant financial challenges nationally; the continuing impacts 
of the coronavirus pandemic, the war in Ukraine and the cost of living crisis. 
In view of this significant uncertainty over the future of local government 
finance and what resources may be available to the Council beyond the 
following year, and the uncertainties caused by these issues and the local 
elections in May 2023, a detailed budget for 2023/24 within the context of the 
four year MTFS was proposed.  
 
The report identified key strategies including:- 
 

 No increase in the general Council Tax precept, however, the 
Government’s 2% Adult Social Care precept would be applied, 
which would raise £1.588m towards the additional investment 
required in Adult Social Care services.  

 Extra net investment of £7.26m into Adult Social Care Services and an 
additional £2.5m into Children’s Safeguarding.  

 A programme of capital investments totalling more than £364m as set 
out in the Capital Strategy and Capital Programme reports which 
included:- 

 £70m investment into NuPlace and Telford & Wrekin Homes 

 £70m to support further Growth Fund initiatives which would bring new 
employment opportunities into the Borough 

 £40m for education capital projects, including investment in school 
expansion projects to increase pupil places 

Page 4



 

 

 £40m for transport and highways schemes 

 £8.7m for a swimming pool in the Dawley area 

 £1.8m into the Stronger Communities project 
 
The Council continued to provide a comprehensive package of support for 
residents to help with the cost of living.  
 
Since 2009/10, the Council had delivered savings of £141m per annum. The 
report put forward additional proposals to deliver further savings and generate 
additional income.  
 
Attached to the report were a number of appendices, including a robustness 
statement from the CFO, analysis of base budget movements, and details of 
Reserves and Balances. 
 
The Capital Strategy report was a requirement of the Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities. The aim of the strategy was to give an 
overview of the long-term context in which capital expenditure and investment 
decisions were made and to highlight the consideration given to risks and 
rewards as well as the achievement of Council priorities. 
 
Recommendations by Cabinet would be considered at Full Council on 2 
March 2023 as Full Council was responsible for setting the overall revenue 
and capital budget framework.  At that meeting the Council Tax for 2023/34 
would also be set. 
 
The Chair of the Business & Finance Scrutiny Committee presented the 
Scrutiny Committee’s response to the proposals. The Committee thanked 
officers for their work in completing the budget and noted that no opposition 
budget had been received. The majority of scrutiny Members had supported 
the proposed freeze on the general council tax levy and the proposal to 
increase the adult social care levy by 2% as assumed by central government. 
Scrutiny had noted the one year financial settlement from government and the 
high levels of uncertainty around this.  
 
Cabinet Members welcomed the report and expressed their disappointment 
that central government had not delivered the two year financial settlement 
that had been proposed. Cabinet Members welcomed the proposals to not 
increase the main portion of Council Tax, and to only apply to 2% Adult Social 
Care Precept as assumed by central government.  
 
Cabinet Members noted discussed that the proposals meant that the Council 
would continue to have one of the lowest Council Tax demands in the country, 
yet the Council continued to deliver high quality services for residents. 
 
The Leader of the Liberal Democrat Group noted the uncertainty regarding the 
financial settlement and raised his concern regarding this. 
 

Page 5



 

 

The Leader of the Conservative Group stated that the Council had choices on 
what to spend its resources on, however, noted the issues that were having a 
world-wide impact, such as coronavirus and the war in Ukraine.  
 
 
RESOLVED to: -  
 

a) RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL the following: 
a. The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2023/24 – 

2026/27 and the budget framework for 2023/24 set out in 
this suite of reports; 

b. The second year of the freeze of the general Council Tax 
level announced last year; 

c. The application of the Government’s 2% Adult Social Care 
Precept in 2023/24; 

d. The net investment of a further £7.26m into Adult Social 
Care in 2023/24; 

e. The budget savings listed in Appendix 10 of the report 
totalling £7.931m in 2023/24; 

f. The continuation of work with partner organisations, 
including Town & Parish Councils and Voluntary Sector and 
Community Groups to seek to identify ways to mitigate the 
impact of some of the cuts to services that we can no 
longer afford to deliver and to note the availability of the 
Invest to Save / Capacity Fund which is available to support 
partnership working; 

g. The base budget in Appendix 8 of the report; 
h. The policy framework for Reserves and Balances and their 

planned use outlined in Appendix 6 of the report; 
i. The Risk Register included at Appendix 14 of the report; 
j. The endorsement of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, a 

link to which is included with Appendix 16 of the report, for 
adoption by Full Council on 2 March 2023, ready for 
implementation from 1 April 2023; 

k. The continuation of a Council Tax Reduction Hardship 
Assistance Policy including an addendum for 2023/24, also 
within Appendix 16 of the report; 

l. The revenue implications of the medium-term capital 
programme for the period 2022/23 – 2026/27 set out in the 
Capital Strategy and Programme reports also on this 
agenda; 

m. That Authority be Delegated to the Director: Finance & 
Human Resources, after consultation with the Cabinet 
Member: Finance, Governance & Customer Services, to 
action any virements required following the final allocation 
of the Dedicated Schools Grant and other Grants and 
following completion of the NNDR1 and final estimates of 
Business Rates Income; 

n. That Authority be Delegated to the Executive Director: Adult 
Social Care, Health Integration & Wellbeing, after 

Page 6



 

 

consultation with the Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care & 
Health, Integration and Transformation, to enter into 
appropriate Section 256 and Section 75 Agreements under 
the NHS Act 2006 (as amended); 

o. The Director: Policy & Governance be authorised to execute 
all necessary contract documentation including the affixing 
of the common seal of the Council as appropriate to enable 
the Council to enter into appropriate Section 256 and 
Section 75 Agreements under the NHS Act 2006 (as 
amended); 

p. This suite of Medium-Term Financial Strategy reports as the 
Council’s Efficiency Strategy for 2022/23 and 2023/24, 
including the document at Appendix 13 of the report, to 
enable new capital receipts to be used to fund the revenue 
costs of transformation and efficiency projects as assumed 
throughout these reports; 

q. That Authority be Delegated to the Director: Finance & 
Human Resources, after consultation with the Cabinet 
Member: Finance, Governance & Customer Services, to 
amend the use of balances in 2023/24 and to make any 
other associated adjustments to accommodate any 
difference in funding between that currently assumed and 
final grant allocations when received; 

r. That Authority be Delegated to the Director: Finance & 
Human Resources, after consultation with the Cabinet 
Member: Finance, Governance & Customer Services to 
make changes to the Medium-Term Financial Strategy with 
immediate effect to reflect all grants received from 
Government with authority to incur associated spend; 

s. The Pay Policy for 2023/24 included as Appendix 17 of the 
report; 

t. The application of a 100% Council Tax premium to second 
homes from 1 April 2024 and that the premium of 100% on 
long-term empty homes should be applied after 12 months 
rather than 24 months from 1 April 2024 provided that the 
necessary legislation is in place by that date and that 
Authority be Delegated to the Director: Finance & Human 
Resources, after consultation with the Cabinet Member: 
Finance, Governance & Customer Services, to finalise the 
detailed policies required; 

u. The additional recommendations contained in the other 
reports included in this suite of Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy reports included on this agenda; 

v. the Capital Strategy for 2023/24 be approved; 
w. the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24-2026/27: 

Capital Programme Report and associated capital estimates 
for 2022/23 and 2023/24 to 2026/27, which incoporates the 
Capital Programme (Appendix A of the report), the Planned 
Building Maintenance Programme (Appendix B of the 
report) and the two year Highways and Transport capital 

Page 7



 

 

investment programme (Appendix C of the report) be 
approved; 

x. the planned building capital maintenance programme for 
2023/24 be approved; 

y. the planned Highways and Transport Capital investment 
programme for 2023/24 – 2024/25 be approved; 

z. that responsibility be delegated for agreeing any variations 
or changes to schemes in the capital programme that 
remain within overall approved budget limits to the 
Director: Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member: Neighbourhood 
Services, Regeneration & The High Street and the Cabinet 
Member: Housing, Enforcement & Transport; 

aa.  the Investment Strategy for 2023/24 be approved; 
bb. the treasury management activities to 31 December 2022 

(Appendix A of the report) be noted; 
cc. the Treasury Strategy 2023/24 (Appendix B of the report), 

including the Annual Investment Strategy, together with the 
Minimum Revenue Provision Statement (Appendix B of the 
report, section 3.0, which will apply from 2022/23 onwards) 
and Treasury Management Prudential Indicators (Appendix 
Bii of the Report) be approved; 

dd. the Treasury Management Policy Statement (Appendix B, 
section 4.0 of the report) be noted; 

ee.  the prudential indicators proposed in the 2023/24 
Prudential Indicators report be approved. 
 

b) The following be noted: 
a. The initial projections for the potential budget gap included 

in this report through to 2026/27 and that these will 
continue to be update as additional information becomes 
available and that work will commence to identify options 
for how the future budget gaps can be bridged; 

b. The CFO’s robustness statement in Appendix 15 of the 
report; 

c. The very high level of uncertainty relating to the medium-
term financial outlook for the Council due to: 

 National and International economic pressures 
resulting in an extremely challenging financial 
outlook for UK public services; 

 Rapidly rising costs including energy, food and 
interest rates which place pressure on the Council’s 
own budgets; 

 The impact of rising interest rates, the highest levels 
of inflation for 40 years and a potential economic 
recession on our residents and businesses 
resulting in the Council declaring a cost-of-living 
emergency at Full Council on 10 November 2022; 

Page 8



 

 

 The cost-of-living emergency resulting in escalating 
demand for many Council services adding to the 
financial pressures facing the Council; 

 The Government’s one-year provisional Local 
Government finance settlement not extending 
beyond the end of March 2024; 

 The significant potential changes to the Local 
Government finance system which have now been 
discussed by the Government for many years are 
now unlikely to be introduced before the next 
general election but remain a major uncertainty, as 
does the potential impact of Adult Social Care 
funding reforms which have been delayed until 
October 2025. 

d. That this high level of uncertainty requires the Council to 
retain flexibility by limiting new ongoing investments to our 
highest priorities whilst identifying additional budget 
savings to ensure a balanced budget for next year and over 
the medium term; 

e. The considerable level of uncertainty together with local 
elections due in May 2023, which may result in a new 
Administration with a new mandate, combine to make it 
appropriate to set only a one-year detailed budget for 
2023/24 within the wider context of this overall Medium-
Term Financial Strategy. 

 
CAB-
214 

Telford and Wrekin Ageing Well Draft Strategy 

 
The Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care & Health, Integration and 
Transformation presented the report of the Director: Adult Social Care. The 
report outlined the development of the place based Ageing Well Strategy and 
sought approval to go to public consultation.  
 

People were living longer and the number of older people, both locally and 
nationally, were increasing. In 2021, there were around 3,600 adults aged 
over 85 in Telford and Wrekin, by 2032 there were projected to be 5,600.  The 
strategy had been developed in partnership with various organisations such 
as Age UK and the NHS.  
 
The Leader of the Liberal Democrat Group welcomed the report and noted the 
valuable contribution that older people played within their community.  
 
In response to a question from the Leader of the Conservative Group, it was 
confirmed that work was ongoing for rural areas and that Town and Parish 
Councils and ward members would continue to have an important role.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

Page 9



 

 

a) The public consultation on the draft Ageing Well Strategy be 
approved; 

b) The consultation in the community and with all partners be 
supported and championed; 

c) Authority be Delegated to the Director: Adult Social Care, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care and the 
Telford and Wrekin Ageing Well Partnership Board to amend and 
approve the strategy and associated action plan, following 
consultation.  

 
CAB-
215 

Telford & Wrekin Domestic Abuse Strategy 2023 - 2025 

 
The Cabinet Member: Leisure, Public Health and Well-Being, Equalities & 
Partnerships presented the report of the Director: Health & Wellbeing. The 
report provided an update on the refreshed strategy which had been 
developed by the new Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board. 
 

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 (DA Act) had provided new context, duties and 
responsibilities on Local Authorities and partner organisations. A Telford & 
Wrekin Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board had been established, in 
conjunction with eh national Domestic Abuse Charity, SafeLives. The report 
outlined the key elements of the new service. 
 
Cabinet Members welcomed the report and discussed the new framework 
around managing perpetrators of abuse. Cabinet Members welcomed the 
commitment to dealing with child to parent abuse.  
 
The Leader of the Conservative Group raised a question regarding pursuing 
orders where possible should be changed to where necessary, the Leader of 
the Council advised that the Council would discuss this with the police, as 
they held the necessary powers.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) The Telford & Wrekin Domestic Abuse Strategy 2023/2025 be 
approved; 

b) The Council sign up to the Child to Parent Abuse Covenant.  
 
CAB-
216 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Policy and Annual 
Update 2022/23 

 
The Cabinet Member: Finance, Governance & Customer Services presented 

the report of the Director: Policy & Governance. The report sought approval of 

the revised Regulation of Investigatory Powers (RIPA) policy which would 

govern how and in what circumstances these investigatory powers would be 

used.  

The policy set out the types of surveillance which could be used and the 

circumstances in which it would be appropriate to make use of these powers.  

Page 10



 

 

The report set out the number of times the Council had used its RIPA powers 

in the preceeding two years. 

RESOLVED that: 

a) the revised RIPA policy be considered and approved; 

b) the Council’s use and compliance with RIPA for the years 2021 

and 2022 be noted; 

c) Authority be delegated to the Director: Policy & Governance to 

make any necessary amendments to the Council’s RIPA Policy as 

a result of legislative changes or for administrative convenience.  

 
CAB-
217 

Enforcement Policy in relation to relevant letting Agency 
Legislation 

 
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member: Housing, Enforcement & Transport 
presented the report of the Director: Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services. 
The report sought approval of the new Enforcement Policy relating to letting 
agencies. 
 
The report outlined how the Council would enforce the letting agencies 
legislation and the determination of financial penalties where there was non-
compliance. The policy would support the Council is delivering a consistent 
approach to housing enforcement.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) the Enforcement Policy relating to Letting Agencies (Appendix A 
of the report) which outlines the Council’s approach to 
enforcement and determination of financial penalties where non-
compliance occurs be approved; 

b) Authority be Delegated to the Director: Neighbourhood & 
Enforcement Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member: 
Housing Enforcement & Transport to undertake and publish future 
amendments to the Enforcement Policy relating to Letting 
Agencies and associated financial penalties.  

 
CAB-
218 

Long Term Empty Property Strategy 2021 - 2026 Update 

 
 
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member: Housing, Enforcement & Transport 
presented the report of the Director: Housing, Employment & Infrastructure.  
The report provided an update on the steps the Council had taken to bring 
long term empty properties back into use.  
 
The strategy outlined a target to return a minimum of 375 long term empty 
properties back to residential use. The report outlined the various approaches 
that had been used to return properties to use. There were a further 128 

Page 11



 

 

empty properties identified by the Council, including 4 which had been empty 
for over 20 years.  
 
Cabinet Members welcomed the report and noted that empty properties 
attracted fly tipping and anti-social behaviour. Empty properties were a wasted 
housing opportunity.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
a) The actions undertaken in respect of the Long-Term Empty Property 

Strategy be noted; 
b) The use of compulsory purchase powers and enforced sale powers 

to deliver the aims of the strategy be endorsed and that Authority be 
Delegated to the Director: Policy & Governance, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member: Housing, Enforcement & Transport, to approve 
any policy or procedure relating to enforced sale and to take all 
necessary steps to secure the making, confirmation and 
implementation of any CPO powers in furtherance of the Long-Term 
Empty Property Strategy.  

 
CAB-
219 

Strong Leader Decision - Fly Tipping Fixed Penalty Notices 

 
The Leader advised the Cabinet about the recent exercise of his Strong 
Leader powers as set out in the report. The decision had been made to 
reduce the discount afforded for the early payment of fixed penalty notices for 
fly tipping from £200 to £50. Market research had shown that it was often 
cheaper to pay the fine for fly tipping than it was to appropriately dispose of 
waste, for example via a skip. 
 
Members were advised that the maximum possible fines for Fixed Penalty 
Notices was capped at £400 via the Environmental Protection Act 1990. The 
Leader stated that this should be a decision that was made locally and would 
be writing to the Minister to this effect. 
 
Cabinet Members noted the report.   
 
The meeting ended at 11.18 am 
 
Signed for the purposes of the Decision Notices 

 
Anthea Lowe 
Director: Policy & Governance 
Date:  Wednesday 22 FEBRUARY 2023 
 

Page 12



 

 

 
Signed  

 
Date: 

 
Thursday 16 March 2023 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Cost of Living Strategy Update 

 

“In October 2022, Cabinet approved the council’s £12 million cost of living strategy in 

response to the cost of living crisis affecting people here in Telford and Wrekin and right 

across the country. The strategy aims to help residents and businesses with the spiralling 

cost of living across seven key areas including support with energy, food, council tax and 

benefits, housing, transport and health and wellbeing. 

This report updates the Cabinet on progress to deliver the actions outlined in the strategy 

and highlights how this work has made a difference in the borough over the winter period. It 

also asks Cabinet to endorse proposals for further help and support and agree the next 

steps.” 

 

 

  

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Borough of Telford and Wrekin 

Cabinet 

16 March 2023 

Cost of Living Strategy Progress Update 

 
 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Shaun Davies - Leader 

Lead Director:  Felicity Mercer – Director: Communities, Customer and 

 Commercial Services 

Service Area:  Council Wide 

Report Author:  Lee Higgins – Delivery Manager: Customer Relationship 

 & Financial Welfare Services 

Officer Contact 
Details:            Tel: 01952 383835 Email: lee.higgins@telford.gov.uk 
 
Wards Affected:  All Wards 

Key Decision:  Not key 

Forward Plan:  Not Applicable  

Report considered by: SMT – 14 February 2023 

    Business Briefing – 2 March 2023 

    Cabinet – 16 March 2023 

 
 

1.0 Recommendations for decision/noting: 

Cabinet is asked to: 
 
1.1 Note the impact that the cost of living crisis is having on the residents and 

businesses of the Borough.  
 

1.2 Note the progress made to date to deliver the actions agreed in the Cost of Living 
Strategy; and 

1.3 Endorse the proposals for provision of further help and support and agree next 
steps, as set out in Section 4.6 of this report. 

 

Page 17



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

2.0  Purpose of Report 

2.1 The purpose of the report is to update Cabinet on progress made on the Council’s 
 response to the cost of living crisis. 

 
3.0 Background 

3.1 In response to the unprecedented cost of living crisis that is affecting people right 
across the UK, Cabinet approved a Cost of Living Strategy in October 2022, which 
set out the Council’s plans to provide help and support to residents and 
businesses in the Borough. Since the strategy was approved, the financial outlook 
nationally has remained challenging. 

 
3.2  As at the start of February 2023, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) predicted 

that the UK economy would contract in 2023, the only economy of any developed 
nation that is expected to do so.  

 
3.3  Although inflation has begun to reduce slightly, it remains at an extremely high 

rate of over 10% (as of January 2023). Whilst the costs of petrol and diesel have 
reduced in recent months, the price of food had risen by 16.8% up to the end of 
December 2022. Of most concern is that it is the basic food staples, such as milk 
and eggs, which have risen by the largest amount. 

 
3.4  Between October 2021 and October 2022, domestic gas prices increased by 

129% and domestic electricity prices by 66%. Whilst the Government has 
introduced measures to cap energy bills for a period, the future scope of these 
remains uncertain, and further increases are expected in April 2023. 

 
3.5  Nationally, although average pay overall has risen, it is still significantly behind the 

rate of inflation. 
 
3.6 Interest rates also remain at their highest rate in 14 years, with the Bank of 

England benchmark rate being raised to 4% at the start of February 2023. 
 
3.7  Regionally, the Federation of Small Business (FSB) has reported 39% of their 

members are still anticipating growing in the next year. However, Britain’s 
manufacturers have cut their growth forecasts for industry, with almost 60% of 
manufacturers planning to raise prices further in the next 3 months, risking fuelling 
a further surge in inflation hitting supply chain and residents alike.  

 

“Given the disparity in relief provided in the UK and competitor countries, it is 
essential that the Government now delivers on its Energy Security Strategy and 
addresses the outstanding disproportionate costs UK manufacturers face in 
electricity bills, including high renewable levies and network costs. Years of 
paying more for these elements of electricity costs have placed UK industry at a 
competitive disadvantage against its European and global competitors.”  
 

Charlotte Horobin, Region Director, Make UK 

 
 

 

Page 18



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

3.8 Businesses have cautiously welcomed clarification on how the government will 
continue to support them with energy prices, but the level of support will be 
materially lower after March 2023. There is also concern that with the cost of 
energy projected to go down this may mean many businesses may now not qualify 
for the discount under the Energy Bill Relief Scheme. With the fragile state of 
many businesses, particularly small and medium enterprises, this is a major 
concern, and given the substantial reduction in support after March, the imperative 
for businesses to take action to control energy costs is greater than ever.  

 
3.9 Businesses are responding and starting to think about building their longer-term 

energy resilience with the cost and availability of energy an on-going issue for 
some of Telford’s largest manufacturers, such as Tier 1 automotive suppliers. 
However, whilst these businesses are keen to install energy saving features, such 
as solar panels and wind turbines, they continue to be hampered by the capacity 
of the grid. This is something that the Council is lobbying government on, and is a 
growing barrier to economic growth, alongside blocking the development of key 
energy infrastructure, including large scale EV charging.  

 
 

“High energy costs are an increased concern for manufacturers such as 
ourselves and we welcome every opportunity to work in partnership to help 
address the issues we all face.” 
 

 Chris Lindsay, Denso 

 

 

4.0  Summary of main proposals 

4.1  Impact of the cost of living crisis in Telford & Wrekin 
 
4.1.1 At the point that the Council’s Cost of Living Strategy was approved, demand for 

support locally was already at an extremely high level, and this has only continued 
to grow over the winter period, as shown in the infographic below. 

Page 19



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

  
 
 
4.2  Delivery of cost of living support  
 
4.2.1 The Cost of Living Strategy set out the Council’s approach to helping residents 

and businesses with the cost of living crisis across seven key areas, including 
support with energy, food, Council Tax and benefits, housing, transport, and 
health and well-being.  

 
4.2.2 Cabinet approved a package of additional help for residents and businesses most 

affected by the cost of living crisis; both direct support delivered by the Council, 
alongside delivery in partnership with other local organisations (see below for 
some highlights of the support provided). Further examples of how this work has 
made a difference for residents over the winter period are set out from Sections 
4.3.1-4.3.7. 

 

Page 20



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

 
 
4.3 Support for residents 
 

4.3.1 Help with energy costs 
 

A key aim of the Cost of Living Strategy was to help residents with their energy 
costs. One direct way that we have done this is by purchasing low energy LED 
light bulbs through our climate change funding. Bulbs have been sourced from a 
local electrical supplier for residents most affected by the cost of living crisis. So 
far, 2,000 bulbs have been distributed through Shropshire Fire and Rescue, 
Telford Crisis Support and Wrekin Housing Group. An additional 2,000 are 
currently being distributed through Citizens Advice Telford and Wrekin, Town and 
Parish Councils, Warm Spaces and Marches Energy Agency. Based on Energy 
Saving Trust data, a low energy bulb saves on average £10 a year. The 4,000 
bulbs purchased to date represent an annual saving of £40,000 for local residents 
and will also save in total 20,000 kgs of carbon emissions. The Council will 
continue to distribute further bulbs as they are needed.  

“We are grateful for the low-energy lightbulbs provided by the Council. Like 
people across the country, our tenants are feeling the squeeze when it comes to 
the cost-of-living crisis and we’re doing all we can to support them during these 
challenging times.  Being able to give these out for free will be a positive step in 
helping people make small changes to save money on their energy bills.”   

Daniel Bebbington, Debt and Energy Manager - The Wrekin Housing Group 

Page 21



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

 
We have also invested more funding into the Telford Energy Advice (TEA) 
helpline, which is delivered in partnership with the Marches Energy Agency.  Since 
April 2021, TEA has helped more than 3,500 local households with advice, 
support, low cost energy saving measures, and access to energy efficiency grants 
and funding. 
 
Alongside this, we have been continuing to work with households identified as 
being in fuel poverty to see if they are eligible for free energy efficiency measures, 
with funding secured to improve the energy efficiency measures of an additional 
144 homes.  In January 2023, we also launched a new Better Homes Loan, in 
partnership with Just Credit Union.  Eligible homeowners can access loans from 
£300 to £8,000 to top up their loft insulation, install more energy efficient boilers or 
make other changes to improve their properties. 
 

4.3.2 Help with food  

 

The allocation of supermarket vouchers to families with children on income-related 
free school meals has continued, with the granting of vouchers in school holidays 
covering October half-term, Christmas, February half-term and Easter. Around 
9,864 children received a voucher in the last round. 
 
In January 2023, we also allocated a one-off £150 supermarket voucher to 
pension age residents in receipt of Pension Credit Guarantee Credit or Pension 
Savings Credit, and also in receipt of Housing Benefit or Council Tax Reduction. In 
total 3,549 households have received one of these vouchers. 

“I was amazed when I opened the post to find a £150 voucher for food. Believe 
me when I say it will certainly be put to good use.  I can buy some food and put 
in the freezer a nice big chicken that will last me days. Wonderful.” 
 

Mrs W 

 

Oh, my goodness I did not expect this at all. Thank you so much. The food 
vouchers....it is so, so, much appreciated and helpful. You made my kids and my 
day. I am speechless, and so thankful. Thank you so much.”     
 

Miss G 
 

Since the Cost of Living Strategy was approved, we have provided direct financial 
support to 13,233 households in the borough, an increase of more than 20%. 

 
In addition to these direct awards, we have paid a further £144,000 to 709 
residents who made an application for help through our discretionary scheme or 
applied for help through one of our other hardship schemes. 

 

Page 22



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

In October 2022, Cabinet also agreed to provide an additional £90,000 of funding 
to help local foodbanks cope with rising demand for food parcels and increasing 
food costs, as highlighted in the infographic in Section 4.1. This funding was split 
between five local foodbanks. In addition, the Council has provided a small 
additional grant to Telford Crisis Support to help them run cooking on a budget 
sessions.  Participants receive both free ingredients and equipment e.g., a slow 
cooker, so they can make healthy, low cost meals at home. The Council's Learn 
Telford team has also run similar cooking on a budget sessions at 4 locations 
across the Borough. 

 

 

4.3.3   Council Tax freeze and discounts 
 
The Council has again committed to a 0% increase in general Council Tax for 
2023/24. We would expect to retain our position of having the lowest Council Tax 
for the services that this Council provides in the whole of the Midlands region.  
 
In addition, the Council has decided to award a further discount of up to £100 per 
household to every recipient of Council Tax Reduction, which is a local scheme 
designed to help people on low incomes pay their Council Tax. Part of this 
discount (£25) is being funded through new Government funding which was 
announced in December 2022.  

 
4.3.4   Warm and welcoming spaces 

 
35 warm and welcoming spaces have received funding through our Cost of Living 
Community Grant, with grants of up to £5,000 enabling community groups and 
Town & Parish Councils to open their buildings, offering food, activities, and a 
chance for people to get together and socialise. The first ones opened at the end 
of November 2022. All thirty-five are now open and running across the Borough. 
Attendances have varied week to week but have been as high as 770 in a week. 
 

“In Nov 2022 the Telford and Wrekin Interfaith Council received an additional 
cost of living payment from Telford & Wrekin Council to assist us in our mission 
to look after the vulnerable in the Borough.   
 
These funds came at a perfect time for us as a charity.  We have seen a 
reduction in donations as more people are struggling. Due to the sharp increase 
of fuel, energy bills, and food bills, many members of the community found 
themselves in hardship.  
 
As a charity we were also not immune to these increased costs, especially with 
regards to the costs of deliveries, purchasing food and goods to ensure our 
services continued to support those in greatest need.” 
 

Les Pointer – Telford Interfaith Council 

Page 23



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

 

 
4.3.5   Help to quit smoking 

 
 Our local service to support people to quit smoking is provided free to residents by 
the Council’s Healthy Lifestyle Service. Since April 2022, a small team of 3 
Advisors have supported 440 people to quit. As the average cost of smoking 
(£2,451 a year) is now equivalent to the average household’s annual energy bills 
(£2,500), the support we have given residents to take action to quit is likely to have 
saved Telford & Wrekin residents more than £1m a year to help offset the rising 
cost of living, as well as improving their health and wellbeing. An additional three 
full time Advisors joined the team in January 2023, and work is underway to 
increase referrals to the service including targeted work with General Practice and 
a social media campaign.  

 

4.3.6   Increasing benefit take-up by older residents 
 

  The Council and a range of other partners have also stepped up efforts to ensure 
 that residents, particularly older people, are claiming everything they are entitled 
 to, for example: 

 

 The Council has provided grant funding to Age UK to enable them to expand their 
Older People’s Benefits Advice Service in Telford & Wrekin. This has enabled 
them to maximise the benefit entitlement of older people in the Borough to an 
estimated value of over £1million. On average, each client supported with a 
benefits claim by Age UK has received £4,164 a year, and with most benefits 
awards being longer than a year, bringing significant revenue into the local 
community. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

Case study from Age UK  
 

Mrs D was beginning to struggle with caring for her husband, as well as with her 
own health. Mrs D was assessed to be eligible for Attendance Allowance and was 
offered assistance to claim by Age UK.  Two months later, Mrs D was awarded 
Attendance Allowance at the high rate. This made a big difference to Mrs D as 
she could afford to pay for products and services to help her with her own needs 
and with her informal caring role.  Age UK also used their expert knowledge to 
help Mr & Mrs D with their Pension Credit claim. This meant that Mr & Mrs D now 
receive £116.94 a week in Pension Credit, along with the extra £92.40 
Attendance Allowance awarded to Mrs D.  This also meant that they were entitled 
to Government cost of living payments amounting to £650 in 2022/23 and £900 in 
2023/24. They are also entitled to help with health costs, assistance with a TV 
licence and qualify for cold weather payments of £25.00 a week when the 
temperature is below freezing. 
 
The extra income and support offered by Age UK in claiming these benefits made 
Mr & Mrs D more resilient to the cost of living crisis, they were able to keep the 
property adequately heated, which was especially important to Mr D who had a 
history of falls and osteoarthritis, conditions that would be aggravated by the cold. 
 
In total, Mr & Mrs D received an additional £10,885 in annual support and were 
incredibly grateful for the assistance provided.  
 
Mrs D said:  
“This outcome is absolutely amazing, I can’t thank your Benefits Officer enough 
for her knowledge and support, the information we received was excellent 
throughout.” 

 

 Between April and December 2022, the Wellbeing and Independence Partnership, 
commissioned by Telford & Wrekin Council, also assisted 174 older people to 
claim welfare benefits totalling over £722,000.  
 

 Between September and December 2022, the Council’s Financial Case 
Management Team assisted 1,810 older people, or those in receipt of care or 
support, with help and advice regarding benefit entitlement and care costs. 
 

 In December 2022, the Council’s Benefit Service wrote to 253 older people where 
it appeared from our benefit records that they may have an unclaimed entitlement 
to Pension Credit Guarantee Credit. This letter encouraged customers to make an 
online application, or to contact Citizen’s Advice or, where appropriate, the Money 
Matters team at The Wrekin Housing Group for support with applying. 

4.3.7   Work Express bus service 
 
In December 2022, the new Council funded Work Express bus service launched, 
providing a link to key employment sites from areas of high unemployment and a 
new direct route for school pupils to the Telford Priory School in Oakengates. 
Fares are capped at a maximum of £2 per single journey for adults (£1 for U16s) 
and provide significantly quicker journey times for customers using the route. The 

Page 25



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

new service had 2,921 users during January 2023, with one rider stating that it 
had saved them over £100 per week in taxi fares. 

4.3.8  Free and low-cost activities 
 
Since October 2022, the Council has continued to provide a wide range of free or 
low cost activities for residents of the Borough, a selection of which are highlighted 
on the map below: 
 

 

Page 26



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

4.4 Support for businesses  

 
4.4.1 The following section highlights how we are implementing the actions in the 
 Strategy and their impact for local businesses:   
 

4.4.2 Marches Energy Grant 
 

Jointly funded by the Marches LEP, the Marches Energy Grant (MEG) has 
received over 30 expressions of interest from Telford companies to date. 
Supporting businesses to address energy efficiency and supply, in an extension to 
previous EU grant programmes, the MEG grant is accessible for business to 
consumer businesses, including community enterprises and High Street 
businesses.  
  

4.4.3 Cool Shropshire and Telford & Wrekin 
 

Through our partnership with Cool Shropshire and Telford & Wrekin, businesses 
can access online resources and consultancy tailored to their company to help 
identify options for energy efficiency and sustainability best practice. Keeping 
things simple and practical is a common message from those who have benefitted 
to date:   
  

 
   
 

“I have just done the registration. It is so simple, I love it.” 
Emma includes the link to Cool Shropshire and Telford on her website with a 
paragraph about the scheme.”  

 Emma Cantillion – The Barn at Lees Farm  

  

   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27

https://www.thebarnatleesfarm.com/eco-hosting-and-green-tourism/


Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

4.4.4 Cost of Business events  
 

 Alongside the Council’s established programme of business seminars and events 
 delivered through the Telford Growth Hub, two bespoke ‘Cost of Business’ events 
 have taken place:  

  

 Targeting manufacturing companies across all sectors Energy: Navigating the 
Market and Delivering Resilience was facilitated by Make UK. More than 40 
businesses signed up and many more have benefitted through the sharing of the 
event recording. Speakers covered the current state of the energy market, Lyreco 
shared best practice around their renewable energy initiatives at their national 
headquarters in Telford, and there was a look forward to the development of a 
strategic Sustainability & Energy Business Cluster to share and drive best 
practice.  

 
  

 On 8th February Telford’s Business Support Showcase – Energy Efficiency & 
Resilience took place at AFC Telford. Delivered in partnership with the Chamber 
of Commerce, this in-person event engaged over 60 attendees, bringing together 
local partners and organisations to offer advice and guidance on ways to move to 
net zero and invest to build resilience. Speakers covered grant support, new 
technology and strategic buying to manage the energy market, as well as 
networking and sharing of best practice. 

  

“Really informative, really useful to attend an event where you can just listen to 
what other people are sharing, their thoughts and their ideas, so certainly 
coming away with a lot of ideas and thoughts to take back to the business.”  
 

Michael Harte, Director at Bridge Cheese 
 
“Really interesting, we’ve learnt a lot already, some good ideas for us to take 
away and look at further and engage with some of the companies that are here.” 
 

Craig Perry, Financial Controller, Magna  
 

Page 28



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

“Genuinely one of the best events I’ve ever been to, very focussed on the niche 
area that we’re looking at, and I think there are opportunities not only to improve 
our environmental credentials and renewables, but also to actually generate 
more revenue for the business, so I’m excited about that.” 
 

Wayne Carter, Managing Director, Fabweld Steel Products 
 

 

4.4.5 Eco Grant and Diversification Grant 
  
 Through Pride in Our High Street, we have launched both an Eco Grant and a new 
 Diversification Grant. To date we have awarded 29 Eco Grants with a further 10 in 
 the pipeline, across all six of our Borough Towns. Recipients include:  
  

Pamper Me Pretty in Oakengates have been using portable electric fan heaters 
as a heat source in the Salon which reduces the sales floor available to use and 
they are not energy efficient. They have received an Eco grant of £1,300 to 
purchase and fit three energy efficient, wall mounted heaters, bringing down 
their heating bills significantly. 
 

 

 

 
 

The Diversification Grant launched in February 2023 is a new, flexible grant pot, 
recognising the need for high street businesses to look at alternative ways to 
generate income, whether that be through delivering new services, marketing or 
introducing new product lines.     
 

The first Diversification Grant has been awarded to: 
 

Page 29



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

 
 

4.4.6 Climate Change Fund  

 
The Council’s Climate Change Fund has continued to support businesses. 
Fabweld Steel Limited recently received a grant of £8,120 to install two electric 
vehicle charging points.  These will be open for public use and powered by their 
existing photovoltaic system, providing electric vehicles with 100% renewable 
energy.  

  

 
  

4.4.7 Hello Telford 
 

Hello Telford, our business collaboration platform continues to grow with some 132 
business regularly using the site to connect, collaborate, share best practice and 
develop trade links.  

  
4.4.8 Business Rates 
 

To support businesses managing their finances we have distributed £94,000 to 44 
businesses identified as eligible for Small Business Rate Relief. A publicity 
campaign has now been launched to promote that businesses can pay their 

Page 30



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

business rate instalments over 12 months rather than 10, which lowers monthly 
payments. For those who prefer to pay over 10 months we are offering payment 
free months in April and May rather than the traditional months of February and 
March. 

  
4.5 Raising awareness of cost of living support 
 
4.5.1 Information for residents 

 
4.5.2 The Council launched its new cost of living information webpages 

(www.telford.gov.uk/costofliving) in October 2022.  The webpages pull together 
into one place all the current help, support, advice, and information provided by 
the Council and its partners. Since the page went live, it has been viewed 13,437 
times. 

 
4.5.3 Another way that we have been raising awareness of the cost of living support 

available locally is via an ongoing social media campaign. To date, there have 
been 77 cost of living related posts since October 2022, with engagement 
exceeding our usual targets for both Facebook and Twitter. Overall, cost of living 
content has reached more than 344,000 people. 

 
4.5.4 In October 2022, the Council published a “Totally Telford” magazine cost of living 

special, which was delivered to every home in the Borough. This contained articles 
covering a range of topics such as cooking on a budget, reducing energy use, 
affordable family days out, and resources to support business and new start-ups. 

  
4.5.5 We also produced 4,000 postcard style flyers with a QR code that links through to 

our cost of living webpages. These flyers have been distributed via libraries, 
Shropshire Fire & Rescue outreach workers, and doctors’ surgeries. 

 
4.5.6 Across November and December 2022, the Council ran a series of cost of living 

awareness training courses for external partners and stakeholders, including Town 
and Parish Councils, the community and voluntary sector and front-line staff from 
across the Council. The sessions covered the impact of the crisis locally, the main 
benefits and financial support available both nationally and locally, the support 
available to help with health and wellbeing, and the services offered through the 
voluntary and community sector. Separately, sessions were run for Council staff 
where, in addition to the above, we covered the support available to them 
specifically as employees. 

 
4.5.7 Following the live sessions, a recorded version has been launched on YouTube, 

with the link being shared with a wide range of partners, including health partners. 
Over 660 people have attended a live or recorded session, enabling them to 
signpost residents to help with the cost of living. 
 

4.5.8 A further event, specifically for Borough Council Members is planned for early 
March 2023. 
 

 

Page 31



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

4.5.9 Information for Businesses 
 
4.5.10 Alongside the new cost of living web-pages for residents, we have also launched a 

Cost of Doing Business micro-site (Business Support | Enterprise Telford 
(enterprise-telford.co.uk)) that provides a one stop shop of information, advice and 
signposting across all aspects of business support. Promoted via business 
networks including the Federation of Small Business, Chamber of Commerce, and 
the Business Board, in the first month over 400 visits were made to the site.  

 
4.6  Next Steps 

 
4.6.1 The Government have announced that a fourth round of Household Support 

Funding will be made available from 1st April 2023, this time covering a 12-month 
period. However, the exact amount of our allocation and the funding criteria have 
not yet been confirmed. Subject to the final details, we would propose to allocate 
the fund in a similar way to the previous rounds, including the continuation of 
school holiday supermarket vouchers for free school meal eligible children, and a 
one-off supermarket voucher to some of our lowest income pensioner households. 
 

4.6.2 Over the last year, we have seen demand for our Discretionary Housing Payments 
(DHP) scheme increase by 32%, despite the Government cutting our funding by 
30%. This increased demand has been driven by a combination of the cost of 
living crisis and significant increases in private rents. This fund has always been 
an essential tool that we have used to mitigate the risks of rent arrears and 
evictions in the Borough, and without which many residents would become 
homeless. It is therefore proposed that additional Council funding is set aside to 
ensure that the DHP scheme can be sustained for the remainder of this year and 
next, through to March 2024. The exact amount will be known once our 2023/24 
DHP grant is announced.  

 
4.6.3 Section 4.3.8 of this report summarised the success that Age UK have achieved 

with maximising benefits for local older people. To enable for this work to continue 
for another year, it is proposed that we provide a further one-off grant of £30,000. 
 

4.6.4 In addition, given the increase in demand and costs that foodbanks have been 
experiencing, we are proposing to increase the funding for foodbanks by a total of 
£25,000 for the next 12 months. 
 

4.6.5 In late 2022, the Government announced that it would be creating a new scheme 
to provide help to residents who were not connected to the mains gas grid and 
used alternative fuels as their main form of heating. This group, who have not 
been eligible for any of the previous Government support or discounts with their 
energy costs, will be able to apply for a £200 Alternative Fuels Payment. These 
payments will be administered by local councils on behalf of the Government, 
although the online application and the eligibility check will be carried out centrally. 
It was originally expected that this scheme would commence in December 2022, 
however we have recently been informed that there have been challenges with the 
pilot testing that mean its launch has been delayed until at least February 2023. 
 

Page 32

https://www.enterprise-telford.co.uk/business
https://www.enterprise-telford.co.uk/business


Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

4.6.6 It is recognised that one of the impacts of the cost of living crisis may be a 
deterioration in dental health as more families will struggle to afford toiletries 
including those essential for dental hygrine. This is coupled with increasing 
challenges accessing NHS dental care. In December 2022, we submitted a bid to 
NHS England to receive free toothbrushes and toothpaste to distribute to 
communities in need across the Borough. Our bid has not yet been determined.  If 
successful, 26 distribution sites would be set up across the Borough. 
 

4.6.7 The Council is also exploring other ways to provide support for residents with their 
energy costs. Through our affordable warmth programmes, our focus to date has 
been on residents most impacted by the current crisis. However, we are aware 
that the impact is being felt across the community, and so we are exploring how 
we could widen the help to residents not eligible for existing support.  In particular, 
we are aware that some homeowners would like to generate their own renewable 
energy, both to help with energy bills and to reduce their carbon footprint. Potential 
barriers for residents include the upfront cost, awareness of options available, and 
access to qualified installers. We are currently assessing a range of options that 
could help to address these, including working with providers of low-cost long-term 
loans, and collective purchasing schemes, where multiple residents benefit from 
savings through bulk buying, and would also have access to objective advice, pre-
vetted accredited installers of equipment such as solar panels and batteries. 
 

4.6.8 The Council is also closely monitoring national initiatives such as ECO+. The 
government are proposing non means tested grants to fund a wide variety of 
installation measures. This is currently proposed to be available for those in 
council tax bands A-D and whose home are rated EPC (Energy Performance 
Certificate) D or higher. The scheme has not been finalised and the Council will 
look to avoid duplication by looking at how we can add additional value to the 
ECO+ scheme and maximise the benefit of it to Telford residents. 

 
4.6.7 We will also continue to support our businesses, focussing particularly on how we 
 build resilience and growth opportunities.  

 
4.6.8 We will invest the majority of our £5.8m UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 

allocation into business growth including, from April, new programmes to support 
businesses to grow their export markets, investing in start-up programmes as well 
as a continued focus on investment into energy efficiency and new generation 
capacity. Grant funding will be available across all sectors including 
manufacturing, retail, care, and community businesses.  The programme will 
include £1.5m investment into the Station Quarter Skills & Enterprise Hub, 
delivering new incubation units with wrap around business support, alongside the 
delivery of new Further and Higher Education training targeted at increasing digital 
skills, supporting residents into local employment. 

 
4.6.9 We will expand the successful Cool Shropshire & Telford & Wrekin programme, 

providing 121 specialist support to ensure businesses are able to deliver on the 
energy efficiency opportunities identified by the programme review. This will 
include linking them into the Marches Energy Grant. 

Page 33



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

4.6.10 In partnership with the Borough Climate Change Partnership, we will launch a new 
business led Sustainability & Energy Cluster to develop solutions around 
connectivity, energy costs and skills needs, working together to lobby for improved 
grid capacity, identifying gaps in demand and supply capacity and promoting good 
practice. 

 
4.6.11 Over the next 6 months we will develop a new Invest Telford Economic Strategy 

working with businesses and business organisations to ensure – including through 
lobbying Government – that we have the right support, skills, investment 
programmes and infrastructure in place to support all sectors of our business 
community.  

 
5.0 Alternative Options 
 
5.1     As the Report identifies, residents and businesses are being impacted by rising  
          prices and economic uncertainty.  Without the measures set out both residents  
          and local businesses would find themselves more vulnerable to these impacts.  
 
6.0 Key Risks 
 
6.1 The key risks associated with the cost of living crisis are set out in the 
 strategy, and include widening existing inequalities, increasing poverty, 
 causing more people to get into debt, causing or exacerbating health 
 conditions linked to cold homes, and adversely impacting on people’s 
 mental health and wellbeing. For local organisations and businesses, risks 
 include insolvency, reduced profitability, and restricted ability to grow and 
 invest, with a direct knock-on effect onto residents and consumers, as 
 businesses are forced to put up prices and reduce the range of goods and 
 services they produce. 
 
7.0 Council Priorities 
 
7.1 The Cost of Living Strategy supports all Council priorities, but in particular a 
 community-focused, innovative Council providing efficient, effective and 
 quality services and the priority that every child, young person, and adult lives well 

in their community. 
 
8.0 Financial Implications 
 
8.1 The actions and measures outlined in the strategy to respond to the cost of 

living crisis have been funded from a combination of existing budgets, one off 
funding and grants. The proposals for provision of further help and support 
as set out in Section 4.6 of the report will continue to be funded in this way, 
as well as new grant allocations such as the UK Shared Prosperity Fund.  

 
9.0 Legal and HR Implications 
 
9.1 The creation of a Cost of living Strategy will assist the Council to meet its 
 statutory obligations to residents in need of support. The report and strategy 
 document set out the many different ways in which the Council will act for 

Page 34



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

 our residents. All the measures set out in the strategy are in furtherance 
 of the Council’s statutory duties, and the Council has the power to undertake 
 such activities. Any measures which allow the Council to meet current and 
 future needs in a more cost-effective way demonstrate the Council is 
 meeting its duty to act prudently and in a financially responsible manner. 
 Legal advice has been and will be provided on an ongoing basis. 
 
10.0 Ward Implications 
 
10.1 Borough wide impact. 
 
11.0 Health, Social and Economic Implications 
 
11.1 The cost of living crisis will have a significant impact on the health of Telford 
 and Wrekin’s residents as well as on their social and economic wellbeing. 
 The Cost of Living Strategy sets out a wide range of existing and proposed 
 support measures that are designed to benefit residents and businesses’ 
 health, social and economic wellbeing.  
 
12.0 Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
12.1 The Cost of Living Strategy takes account of the legal requirement to pay 
 due regard to the aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty. Key to this is 
 consideration of people’s specific needs based on their protected 
 characteristics. People who share protected characteristics of age and 
 disability are expected to be disproportionately affected by the cost of living 
 crisis and its consequences. The success of the strategy activity relies on 
 active participation by the whole community. Steps are taken to make sure 
 that cost of living support is inclusive and the differing needs of individuals 
 are considered so that support can be effectively targeted. 
 
13.0 Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
13.1 The rising costs of energy highlight the need to accelerate the installation of 
 energy efficiency and renewable energy measures in both homes and businesses 
 in the Borough. The Cost of Living Strategy sets out a range of 
 existing and planned measures to support householders and businesses to 
 reduce their carbon footprint, whilst also benefiting from saving money on 
 energy costs. 
 

14.0  Background Papers 
1 Cost of Living Strategy report – Cabinet 13th October 2022 
2 Affordable Warmth Strategy update – Cabinet 5th January 2023 
  

 

15.0  Appendices 
 

None.  
  
  

Page 35



Cost of Living Strategy Update 
 

 

 

16.0  Report Sign Off 
 

Signed off by Date sent Date signed off Initials  
Legal 08/02/2023 09/02/2023 RP 
Finance 09/02/2023 09/02/2023 PT 
    

 
 

Page 36



Invest Telford Performance Report 

 

“The council’s approach to business and investment support has already had a significant 

positive impact on the local economy, businesses and residents. Invest Telford which links in 

with the council’s new place strategy will be instrumental in driving the borough's economic 

growth by promoting it as an attractive destination for investment. We are proud of the 

growth and investment we have seen in recent years, and we are committed to ensuring 

that this trend continues. 

"We are confident that the launch of Invest Telford, coupled with the new website and 

package of support for businesses, will provide a significant boost to the local economy and 

enable us to attract even more businesses to the borough." 

 

 

 

  

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Borough of Telford and Wrekin 

Cabinet 

Thursday 16th March 2023 

Invest Telford Performance Report 

 
 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Lee Carter - Cabinet Member: Neighbourhood Services, 

Regeneration and the High Street 

Lead Director: Katherine Kynaston - Director: Housing, Employment & 

Infrastructure 

Service Area: Housing, Employment & Infrastructure 

Report Author: Kathy Mulholland - Inward Investment & Business Support 

Service Delivery Manager 

Officer Contact Details: Tel: 01952 567572

   

Email: kathy.mulholland@telford.gov.uk 

Wards Affected: All Wards 

Key Decision: Key Decision 

Forward Plan: Yes – 18 January 2023 

Report considered by: SMT – 14 February 2023  

Business Briefing – 2 March 2023  

Cabinet – 16 March 2023 

 
1.0 Recommendations for decision/noting: 

It is recommended that Cabinet:- 
 
1.1 Approves the launch of Invest Telford to further the promotion of the Borough for 

investment and the support provided to businesses, including the new website and 
prospectus, currently being finalised 
 

1.2 Approves the co-production of a new Invest Telford Economic Strategy for the 
Borough to be presented for approval to Cabinet in the Autumn 
 

 

Page 39



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

2 
 

1.3 Endorses the focus of the Council’s new, business grant programme as proposed 
in paragraph 4.14 
 

1.4 Notes the contribution that the Council’s approach to business and investment 
support is having on the local economy, businesses and residents  

 
2.0 Purpose of Report 

 

2.1 Driven by the Council’s economic development strategy – Enterprise Telford - 
recent years have seen exceptional rates of growth and investment in our 
Borough.  Illustrated in the infographic and the case studies throughout this Report 
- this is delivering for our businesses, our residents, our High Streets.  It is creating 
jobs, skills and generating revenue invested directly into front line services.  Our 
Strategy has established Telford & Wrekin as an investment focus regionally and 
nationally – a town of makers and innovators.   
 

 

 
2.2 The report also highlights the challenges that the economy now faces and how the 

Borough is responding to these challenges initially through the launch of our new 
Invest Telford website and prospectus and over the next 6 months the co-
development of a new Economic Strategy and Taskforce with our partners.  This  
will embed Telford’s Vision for 2032 of an inclusive borough where everyone can 
fulfil their potential in a thriving economy and will provide a roadmap for economic 
growth across the Borough for the next 10 years.     

 

Page 40



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

3 
 

3.0 Background 

3.1 The Council’s existing economic development strategy, ‘Enterprise Telford’ is built 
around a commitment to be ‘business winning and business supporting’ and a 
pledge to provide a service to all investors and businesses that is fast, responsive 
and deal focussed.     

 
3.2 Economic growth is critical to the Borough’s residents and communities providing 

jobs, raising skill levels, delivering services and infrastructure.  However business 
confidence locally and nationally is fragile and it is even more important to be 
focussing on economic growth and resilience at a time when so many are 
challenged by rising costs and the ongoing impact for many of Brexit and Covid. 

 
3.3 The following Summary illustrates how we are delivering against our commitments 

and the impact this is having. 
  
4.0 Summary  

4.1 At the heart of our strategy is a ‘Pledge’ to business.  The Pledge offers to any  
business, whether expanding or looking to land in the Borough, a bespoke 
package of support tailored to need including access to finance, land and 
premises, recruitment and skills and supply chain connections.  We have created 
a more competitive investment environment than regional and national 
destinations, including those designated as Enterprise Zones.   

 
4.2 Our  approach to economic growth is underpinned by a number of essential 

elements:  

 

 Tailored  Business Support including 

o Business Grants & Incentives 

o Skills for Growth  

o Job Promotion 

 Telford  Land Deal and Growth Fund,  

 Creating new sector investment opportunities 

 Investment into transformational infrastructure  

 Marketing our Offer   

4.3 The following sections set out more details illustrated with case studies and 
testimonials to show the impact for business and residents.  

 
Tailored Business Support 

 
4.4 The Business Growth Hub delivered by the Council’s business support team  

provides a one stop shop for all business needs and has acted as a showcase to 
attract inward investment.  The Hub provides a point of contact and signposting to  
other organisations, funders and government agencies including the Marches LEP 
(who provide some financial support for the Hub), Department of Trade & Industry, 
Chamber of Commerce and Federation of Small Business as well as sector bodies 
including Make UK and the local Business Board. 

Page 41



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

4 
 

 
4.5 The Council’s Team has supported businesses with more than 23,000 direct 

interventions with many businesses also accessing ‘self help’ via the website, 
communications and connections into other services.  The package of support is 
tailored to need but includes a number of elements some of which are illustrated 
below:- 

 
 Business Grant Support  
 
4.6 The Team have secured more than £7m of grant support for Telford’s business 

community, directly creating more than 500 jobs with many more in the supply 
chain and as businesses expand further.  The Council’s approach to financial 
support has constantly adapted to reflect business conditions and specific 
challenges in the Borough.  Other highlights include: 
 

 During the extreme flooding of Ironbridge in early 2020, we deployed 79 grants 
to affected businesses, totalling almost £150,000 in support. 

 

 Throughout the pandemic we worked closely with services across the Authority 
and provided support to businesses.  We distributed more than £1.16m in 
Covid grants to businesses to support productivity in addition to £102m of 
business rates grants and relief. 

 

 We bid for £600k of European funding to create a small grant scheme that 
covered the Marches and supported businesses to purchase small equipment 
items or to access professional support in aiding their recovery.  From a recent 
evaluation survey we know that 99% of grant applicants were still trading and 
that 98% of respondents found the grant support ‘very’ important in helping 
them survive the impacts  of the pandemic. 

4.7 Case Study:  Samplas Ltd grant beneficiary – starting post pandemic with 
the Small Business Recovery Grant followed by significant funding through 
the Business Growth Programme: 

 

 
 
4.8 A key focus is on small and medium sized enterprises (SME’s) with a range of 

grants to support expansion, innovation and job creation.   The Business Growth 

Page 42



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

5 
 

Programme as an example, offers grants from £10,000 to £175,000.  The 
personalised application support offered has resulted in Telford out-performing the 
rest of the Marches area, securing more than £3m of grant for our manufacturing 
businesses, creating 350 jobs. 

 
4.9 Case study:    Coopers Gourmet Foods, recipients of a £100,000 grant 

through the Business Growth Programme  
 

 
 

 
4.10 Case study:   Premier Garden Supplies were recipients of a £98,500 grant 

which has helped them to revolutionise its manufacturing processes.     
 

 
 
4.11 The Council team has led the development and implementation of a business 

start-up programme delivering this across the Marches providing coaching and 
mentoring support to both aspiring entrepreneurs and trading businesses with 
growth aspirations.  In Telford 168 individuals benefitted from the start-up 

Page 43



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

6 
 

programme with 33% going on to start a business and 65 existing businesses 
accessed growth support.     

 
4.12 More recently we have launched a specialist business growth programme, which 

uses a panel of ‘growth hub gurus’ - specialists from digital marketeers to 
financiers allowing us to tailor support to businesses of all sizes across the 
borough.  This supports Telford’s Vision 2032 for an economy where 
entrepreneurs and small businesses thrive – particularly important in an area 
where some 5,000 businesses (of 5,710) are micro enterprises – and where 
community owned businesses are increasingly important in supporting residents. 

 
4.13 Case study:  Beneficiary - Specialist Business Growth Support Programme  

 
 
4.14 Over the next few months the Council will launch a range of new grants 

channelling our UKSPF investment programme into areas of local business need 
and demand.  The £5.8m programme will include a focus on export support, 
grants for start up, growth and 121 consultancy and a new focus on supporting 
clean growth with investment into energy efficiency and new generation capacity.  
The programme will also provide investment to deliver new incubation space at 
Station Quarter and to ensure residents benefit from business growth and skills 
support targeting those furthest from the jobs market. 

 
 Skills for Growth 
 
4.15 Recognising the critical importance of skills for business growth and to raise skill 

levels locally the Council provides a Skills for Growth programme.  Available for 
businesses expanding and new investors it also offers support for those 
businesses restructuring or facing redundancies matching them with recruiting 
firms.  The recognition of the programme is illustrated with 7 of the top 10 Telford 
employers accessing skills, recruitment or redundancy support through the Council 
Team, including HMRC, Avara Foods, Lyreco and Denso.   With an average of 
150 direct business engagements per annum this is again a collaborative tailored 
service from recruitment, pre employment work based academies with Telford 
College to create a pool of work ready employees, apprenticeship support, 
academic and other vocational learning through to upskilling of the existing 
workforce to increase efficiency and productivity.   

 

Page 44



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

7 
 

4.16 Using business intelligence to inform training provision ensures that it remains        
relevant and is driving up skills levels. Coordinated by the Council the HR forum is 
a network of businesses, enabling sharing of information and best practice, 
business networking and testing new initiatives.  

 
4.17 Close working with our networks and a mapping exercise of training provision has 

enabled cross referring, targeting of funding and a more streamlined service for 
businesses.  

 
 Showcasing Job Opportunities 
 
4.18 Links with the Council’s Job Box service and its strong partnership with DWP 

maximise opportunities for residents facing unemployment to access new 
opportunities.  Since its launch Job Box has worked with over 7000 residents 
across the borough through online and face to face support.  Jobs are advertised 
via the Job Box Facebook page and a regular programme of job fairs are held at 
the central Southwater One Hub. 

 
4.19 Today the Council will host the Apprenticeship & Skills Show 2023 at the Telford 

International Centre.  This annual event, pre Covid, had become one of the largest 
in the region with over 4000 job seekers attending across all ages.  This year’s 
event has attracted widespread business interest and support from schools, 
Telford College and local universities and will showcase hundreds of job and 
apprenticeship opportunities across the Borough. 

 
4.20 Telford Jobmatch provides a matching and recruitment service for businesses.  

Redundancy support is offered to businesses and their employees including  
access to CV, job search and interview techniques support. Links are made with 
other recruiting businesses where skill sets are similar minimising the impact of 
redundancies on the local economy.  In one year alone 4 business specific 
employment fairs were arranged for employees facing redundancy, including 
Brintons, where 60 staff were at risk. 

 
4.21 Case Study:   HMRC redundancy support 
 

 
 

4.22 There remain many misunderstandings around jobs and roles in some of our 
industries and the skills required at all levels. Working with the Corporate 

Page 45



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

8 
 

Communications team video and social media content has been developed for 
major recruiters including Pickstocks, Magna Confectioners and Corbetts, 
showcasing their local operations with their employees talking directly about their 
experience, duties and rewards. Material has been shared on Telford Jobbox and 
through Council social media to raise awareness of the businesses and roles 
available. 

 
4.23 Using local intel from our business community we have also put in place specific 

solutions to address recruitment and retention and enable local residents to 
access local employment – two initiatives are illustrated below: 

 
4.24 Work Local – recognising that employers are not targeting the communities most 

local to them when recruiting and that residents often are not aware of the 
opportunities on their doorstep these local jobs fairs – working to date with 30 
businesses - bring the two together in venues within the community.  Alongside 
this a number of major employers have worked with the Council to undertake ‘CV-
blind’ recruitment – allowing job seekers to get in front of businesses to show their 
willingness and suitability for employment.   Working locally also reduces the 
dependency on, and cost of transport and has an added environmental benefit. 

 
 
4.25 Work Local event 
 

 
 
4.26 Work Express – launched in December the Council subsidised bus service 

provides a link to key employment sites from areas of high unemployment. Fares 
are capped at a maximum of £2 per single journey for adults and provide 
significantly quicker journey times aiming to work with business shift patterns. The 
new service had over 2,900 passengers in the first month of operation. This is 
continuing to grow through promotion via Council social media, account 
management, networks such as the HR forum, business social media channels 
and the Growth Hub Newsletter. 

 
 

Page 46



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

9 
 

Telford Land Deal & Growth Fund 
 
4.27 The unique Land Deal and Growth Fund underpin our pledge to business.   The 

Land Deal has seen Government recycle funding from land sales in Telford into 
site preparation and infrastructure to support growth.  The Council is leading the 
marketing and disposal of all public land which is delivering 2,800 new homes, 
8,500 new jobs and 300,000 sqm of commercial floor space.  It has generated a 
gross profit share for Telford and Wrekin Council of almost £7m since the Deal 
started.  This has been reinvested into further opportunities for business 
expansion including start up and incubation units.   

 
4.28 The Growth Fund allows the Council to capitalise on investment demand by 

acquiring land and property, building bespoke premises and strengthening and 
diversifying the Council’s Property Investment Portfolio.  It enables the Council to 
react quickly to investment opportunities that come to the market and brings 
additional essential income into the Council to support service delivery.  This 
unique Council approach and willingness to invest in acquiring land or property to 
be then leased to investors, is enhanced by our ability to deliver design, build, and 
ongoing building management as well as by our business support package. 

 
 
4.29 Case Study:  Kensa Creative, new build offices and grant funding support 
 

 
 
 Creating  New Investment Opportunities 
 
4.30 Attracting new Investors and maximising existing business growth are essential to 

the success of Telford’s economic development strategy. 
 
4.31 Since the launch of the economic development strategy, the inward investment 

element of the Council’s Business Support team has managed over 700 
investment enquiries and directly account manages more than 120 business 
accounts.  This contact continues to identify businesses that are outgrowing their 
premises and are looking to move to a larger factory or premises, have plans to 
diversify or connections to companies looking to move or co-locate.  At a time 
when overseas investor numbers are falling, this engagement is essential and the 

Page 47



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

10 
 

strength of Telford’s ongoing pipeline of investment enquiries demonstrates the 
importance of our continued engagement with large strategic companies and 
potential new investors.    

 
4.32 Case study: supporting an existing business expansion, Global Minds and 

an illustration of investment in local people 
 

 
4.33 The Council’s proactive generation of enquiries both within the UK and overseas 

through attendance at events, trade exhibitions and through networking builds this 
pipeline of enquiries.  Links with the Council’s property and architectural and 
design services and the de-risking and preparation of sites for development plus  
access to Council Growth Funding ensures we can respond quickly and deliver to  
investor requirements.   

 
4.34 The current pipeline includes more than a dozen strong inward investment 

enquiries from multiple sectors, from both UK and Worldwide. Business 
expansions from companies already located within our borough with a significant 
investment value are currently being supported and have the potential to create at 
least 2,000 further new jobs 

 
4.35 Case study – Bridge Cheese growth and new investment 
 

 
 

Page 48



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

11 
 

 New Sector Opportunities 
 
4.36 Growth in new and growing sectors is a priority to deliver high value jobs, to raise 

the profile of the Borough and build resilience into the economy.   A Town of 
‘makers’ known for its automotive, food and defence manufacturing base the 
Borough has invested in growing the related agri-technology sector.  Recognised 
as a global growth sector key to future food security the industry is being 
spearheaded by research and new skills from Harper Adams University. 

 
4.37 The expansion of the University, coupled with its new Agri-Engineering Centre for 

Innovation (Agri-EPI Centre), has created an opportunity to attract high tech 
businesses from across the world in fields including robotics, sensors, augmented 
reality systems and enviro-technology.  These bring high value jobs and many 
crossovers into sub sectors of advanced manufacturing. 

 
4.38 The partnership between the Council and Harper Adams University has led to the 

creation of the 25 acre science and enterprise park – Ni.PARK providing a mix of 
incubation, start up and grow on space for investors in the food and drink and agri-
tech related sectors.  Phase One is complete and 70% occupied.  This unique 
offer has been picked up by the Department for International Trade and featured 
as one of their first High Potential Opportunities (HPO’s) marketed internationally 
to potential investors, promoting Telford’s unique expertise in the sector - and 
investor offer. 

 
4.39 This is just a snapshot of the high tech investors who have made Ni.PARK and the 

University their home, illustrating the breadth of innovation and varied countries of 
origin: 

 
4.40 Case Study: early investors in Ni.PARK   

 
 
 

Page 49



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

12 
 

Investment into Infrastructure 
 
4.41 The Council recognises the importance of infrastructure for business growth from 

access to broadband to highways and transport infrastructure, town centre 
regeneration and now new challenges around the infrastructure required to meet 
business energy needs. 

 
 Digital 
 
4.42 Through Superfast Telford we invested £5.6m enabling over 9000 premises to 

access faster broadband which would not have been available commercially.   
This benefitted businesses in the borough and expanded out the network making it 
more commercially viable for other operators to invest putting Telford’s coverage 
now at 98.8%. This puts the borough ahead of the UK average of 97.4%.   Faster 
gigabit speeds have also put Telford ahead of the West Midlands coverage of 
79.41%.  

 
 
4.43 The focus on access to gigabit capable broadband continues with the Council’s 

Virgin Media 02 Gigabit Project and ongoing work to procure collaborative 
investment opportunities to improve mobile phone coverage. 

 
 Energy Security 
 
4.44 More recently, the Business Support and Climate Change and Sustainability 

teams have been working with local companies and stakeholders to support their 
ambitious carbon targets and their need for affordable energy an even greater 
priority in the light of escalating energy prices. 

 

 

Page 50



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

13 
 

4.46 The Telford Sustainability & Energy Cluster is a new business led group, chaired 
by Denso, that is bringing businesses and Council Services together to come up 
with creative solutions around connectivity, energy costs and skills needs - all of 
which supports the Council’s Climate Change Strategy and Borough wide target of 
being net zero by 2030.  Through this cluster the business support team is 
collaborating in lobbying government and grid operators, identifying gaps in 
demand and supply capacity and promoting good practice. 

 
4.47 Case study:   The importance of affordable energy to Telford’s automotive 

manufacturing sector  
 

 
 
 Station Quarter 
 
4.48 The Council has overseen the transformation of infrastructure in Telford Town 

Centre, delivering the creation of Southwater as a regional leisure/retail offer, a 
new bus station and the new Silver Swallow bridge linking the railway and Town 
Centre.  Station Quarter represents the next major transformation introducing town 
centre living, alongside a new central academic campus offering young people 
across the borough accessible, modern learning from school to FE and HE.  
Anchored by a new Skills & Enterprise Hub being delivered in partnership with 
Telford College, this will provide the critical skills businesses need alongside 
incubation space for potential high growth businesses with a wrap-around, on site, 
Council run business support service.  The Council’s recently announced 
successful Levelling Up bid will see close to £5m invested in consolidating 6th form 
provision alongside the Skills Hub offering a further offer to young people and a 
competing offer for the c.500 young people who currently leave the borough post-
16. 

 
 High Streets 
 
4.49 The Council has long realised the threats to the infrastructure of our high streets 

and has invested over £10m in High Street regeneration including through its 

Page 51



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

14 
 

unique Pride in Our High Streets and Place Plan programme.   The programme 
has supported 52 new businesses to open, awarded 220 grants, leveraged more 
than £2.1m in private sector investment, created more than 260 jobs and invested 
£1.95m into high street infrastructure improvements to date.  Through our 
investment we have successfully reduced the number of empty premises across 
our high streets from an average of 9% to 4% which compares to a national 
average of 13.8% 

 
 Marketing Our Offer 
 
4.50 Essential to growth is the Marketing of Telford’s offer to existing and new 

investors.  The Council Team continue to market through attendance at events, 
exhibitions and by engaging with business intermediaries.  However post Covid 
with the changing the marketing landscape there is increased use of social media 
and in particular Linked In to build business relationships. 

 
4.51 Investment opportunities including T54 and latterly Station Quarter have featured 

in Regional marketing campaigns.  Midland Engine funded by Government to 
target overseas investment into the region has regularly featured Telford in its 
‘pitchbook’ to investors putting site opportunities and local businesses in front of 
20 overseas trade missions visiting the Region.   

 
4.52 The business support team has developed a range of targeted promotional 

channels which showcase support programmes and enable Council services to 
share communications with Telford’s businesses.  This includes promoting 
commercial opportunities through the Care Leavers Covenant.  During Covid 
these channels were invaluable in getting messaging around workplace operations 
and grant support out to businesses.  Most recently the Cost of Doing Business 
Micro-Site has been established alongside the Council’s Cost of Living 
Programme to further support to businesses impacted by energy and inflationary 
price rises. 

 
4.53 The Hello Telford platform is a unique tool for businesses, encouraging 

collaboration and trading between Telford businesses.  There are more than 230 
businesses and partners actively using the site  with a monthly newsletter 
achieving an email open rate of over 53% showing a highly engaged business 
audience.    

 
4.54    Across our other business promotion media our reach continues to grow: 
 

 Weekly Newsletter reaches 2,615 businesses on a range of business support 

topics and event promotion with an average email open rate of 39%. 

 Enterprise Telford LinkedIn has more than 700 followers, Borough-wide and  

across multiple industry sectors.  There are regular social posts including event 

promotion, promotion of partner activities, other internal team business 

engagement and information for businesses. 

 Our business twitter account has 2,680 Followers, averaging 15 Tweets per 

month, averaging 346 profile visits per month (last quarter). 

Page 52



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

15 
 

4.55 The 2022 Community Pride Awards showcased investment by large and small 
enterprises attracting considerable support from businesses keen to be 
recognised for their contribution to their local community 

 
4.56    Case study – supporting the Community Pride Awards 
  

 
 
 
4.57 In addition to the business media channels, ‘boosting business’ is a key theme 

across the Council’s corporate marketing and social media channels.  With a 
monthly reach of around 400,000 this regularly focusses on High Street 
investment, new investments linked with the Land Deal and video features on local 
companies recruiting.   

 
 Conclusions & Next Steps  
 
4.58 The Council’s approach to economic growth has generated Council Tax and 

Business Rates that have underpinned the delivery of Council Services.  It 
supports the Council’s Strengthening Families agenda, Health & Wellbeing and 
Education & Skills strategies.  It is central to delivering levelling up supporting our 
Safer Stronger Communities programme providing jobs and opportunities with 
investment aimed at ensuring this is accessible to all.  The strategy has grown the 
number of successful businesses in the Borough, sought to minimise the impact 
on the High Street, built on Telford’s sector strengths and opportunities, stimulated 
and supported innovation by our businesses and is working to align a skilled 
workforce with business need.  There has been investment into Telford’s 
connectivity, recognising the essential role that transport and digital connectivity 
play in connecting communities and facilitating growth.   

 

Page 53



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

16 
 

4.59 Significant changes in the UK economy means that Telford now needs to re-visit 
its economic strategy to reflect new challenges.  This includes continuing to raise 
skill levels to meet business need and to connect residents to opportunities, for 
affordable energy and infrastructure that will make our businesses competitive and 
to ensure that Telford continues to act as a draw for new investors.   

 
4.60 To address this the Council will develop a new ‘Invest Telford’ strategy in the 

coming months.  This will reflect Telford’s 2032 vision for the economy.   This 
aspires to a robust economy that has benefitted from growth in new sectors 
delivering well paid jobs, many of which are linked to a zero carbon 
economy. 

 
4.61 The Invest Telford strategy will be co-produced working with the  wide range of 

partners essential to the economic growth of the town.  This includes our 
businesses but also our College and University providers and business 
representatives such as Telford’s Business Board, the Chambers of Commerce 
and Marches LEP.  To secure this sense of ownership early discussions will be 
held to consider how to bring these groups together as a meaningful, collaborative 
partnership. 

 
4.62 In advance of the strategy, the Council is refreshing its marketing campaign re-

branded Invest Telford, reflected in a modern website and collateral 
including a prospectus (which is currently being finalised) and new social 
media channels.  The focus is on sector case studies with businesses and 
partners talking about their experiences of landing and growing as well as 
illustrating the wider quality of life opportunities across the Borough supported by 
videography.  The prospectus will showcase the strength of Telford’s offer to new 
investors as well as to business intermediaries and government agencies.   

 
5 Alternative Options 

5.1 The report sets out a wide range of initiatives, investment and activity being driven 
by the Council to increase economic growth.  Had these not been established then 
the resulting impact in terms of jobs and inward investment would not have been 
delivered - or would be significantly delayed.  While having a Borough Economic 
Strategy is not a statutory requirement, the alternative of not developing a new 
Strategy would leave the Borough without a clear plan for investment and a means 
to engage partners – including Government – to align their priorities and 
investment to maximise benefits to local business and residents.     

 
4 Key Risks 

6.1 The impact of Brexit, covid and more recently war in Ukraine and the energy crisis 
means economies globally and locally are facing unprecedented challenges.  The 
Council has a key role to play alongside Government and partner agencies in 
supporting existing businesses to survive and to build resilience and growth into 
the economy.  The development of a new economic development strategy will 
address the new challenges faced by the national economy and seek to minimise 
risks to Telford’s local economy and community.   The strategy will have clear 
aims and objectives linked to Vision 2032 and will ensure opportunity is afforded to 
benefit from new jobs and opportunities borough wide.  It will also support the 

Page 54



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

17 
 

Council in lobbying and making bids to government for funding and inform 
opportunities for collaborative working with other authorities and agencies.  The 
engagement of businesses and other partners in the creation of the strategy will 
secure wide ownership and commitment to delivery. 

 
7.0 Council Priorities 
 
7.1 The Council’s economic development strategy will underpin the Council’s Vision 

2032 which aspires to a robust economy that has benefitted from growth in new 
sectors delivering well paid jobs, many of which are linked to a zero carbon 
economy. 

 
8.0 Financial Implications 
 
8.1 The Councils Medium Term Financial Strategy includes investment to support the 

economic development strategy, ‘Enterprise Telford’ and new Invest Telford 
strategy. 

 
9.0 Legal and HR Implications 
 
9.1 When developing the Invest Telford Strategy appropriate legal advice will be 

provided including any consultation and equalities requirements.  Specific 
consideration will also need to be given to any subsidy control implications to 
ensure that any schemes that are developed are compliant with relevant statutory 
requirements in relation to potential subsidy and other matters.  Grant agreement 
support will also be provided when requested. 

 
9.2 There are no direct HR implications arising from this report. 
 
10.0 Ward Implications 
 
10.1 The development of a new economic development strategy will have a positive 

impact on all wards providing jobs and skills and supporting businesses at the 
heart of our communities including our High Streets.  

 
11.0 Health, Social and Economic Implications 
 
11.1 The health of the local economy has a direct impact on the social and economic 

wellbeing of residents across the Borough.  There remain significant inequalities 
within and between our communities.  The Council’s approach to economic growth 
seeks to ensure the benefits are felt across all parts of the Borough and the Invest 
Telford Strategy will continue to ensure support for businesses of all sizes and 
sectors and to facilitate the infrastructure that will connect neighbourhoods to jobs 
and to education and skills. 

  
12.0 Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
12.1 The Council’s approach to economic growth seeks to provide opportunities for all 

businesses and residents to benefit from growth.  The new Strategy will be 
developed with regard to the legal requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

 

Page 55



Invest Telford Performance Report 
 

18 
 

13.0 Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
13.1 The Council’s approach to economic growth is supporting our aspiration to 

achieve zero carbon emissions across the Borough by 2030.  A range of advice 
and specific grant support is assisting our businesses to increase energy efficiency 
and explore energy generation opportunities that will reduce costs, build resilience 
into their operations and reduce emissions.   The Telford Sustainability & Energy 
Cluster linked with the Borough Climate Change Partnership will take a lead 
identifying further opportunities and lobbying for investment into grid infrastructure 
to enable more innovative solutions.  As a Borough we have a growing number of 
‘green tech’ businesses developing and delivering technology that is changing 
business practices including in battery technology and recycling and this is 
recognised as a growth sector that our new Strategy will foster.  Similarly we are 
seeing specialist skills provision being developed through Telford College to 
support business growth and the retrofitting of business premises.  Where the 
Council is delivering new business premises these consider the latest 
technologies including PV, EV charging and other building fabric measures.  We 
are exploring opportunities to retrofit existing commercial premises and Council 
owned buildings. 

 
14.0  Background Papers  

  
 None 
  
  

15.0  Appendices  
 

A Invest Telford Prospectus (currently being finalised and to follow) 
  
  
  

16.0  Report Sign Off 
 
Signed off by Date sent Date signed off Initials  
Director 06/02/23 09/02/23 KK  
Finance 06/02/23 08/02/23 DR 
Legal 07/02/23 10/02/23 EH 

 

Page 56



Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer 

 

“Care experienced people often face discrimination and stigma across housing, health, 

education and many other areas. 

“This can’t happen in Telford in Wrekin. Here we can make a difference. 

“As corporate parents, we are responsible for providing the best possible care for all 

children and young people looked after by our authority. 

“We have already made important steps and have a strong local offer to care leavers in 

place. 

“As an “outstanding” Ofsted-rated council for children’s services, we will always strive to do 

more and we now want to: 

• Make care experience a protected characteristic, with council services and polices 
updated to give special considerations to residents who have experienced care; 

• Encourage local organisations to also treat care experience as a protected 
characteristic and to adopt the corporate parenting principles and 

• Update our local offer to care leavers with additional support and services available 
within the borough.  
 

“We are committed to enabling care experienced young people to build a prosperous, healthy 

and happy future. 

“These proposals will ensure they have the tools to do just that.” 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Borough of Telford and Wrekin 

Cabinet 

Thursday 16 March 2023 

Care Leaver Status as a Protected Charcteristic 

 
 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Shirley Reynolds, Cabinet Member for Children, Young 

People, Education and Lifelong Learning 

Lead Director: Darren Knibbs - Director: Children's Safeguarding & Family 

Support 

Service Area: Children’s Safeguarding & Family Support 

Report Author: Laura Moore, Service Delivery Manager, Service 

Improvement and Efficiency, Children’s Services 

Officer Contact Details: Tel: 01952 385658  Email: Laura.moore@telford.gov.uk 

Wards Affected: All Wards 

Key Decision: Key Decision  

Forward Plan: 18 January 2023 

Report considered by: SMT – 14 Feburary 2023 

Business Briefing – 2 March 2023 

Cabinet – 16 March 2023 

 
1.0 Recommendations for decision/noting: 

Cabinet is asked to: 
 
1.1 To agree to ‘Care Experienced’ as a Protected Characteristic  

1.2  To endorse the updated Telford and Wrekin Local Offer to Care Leavers’ 
 
2.0 Purpose of Report 

2.1 To update on the Telford and Wrekin Local Offer put forward a proposal that 
individuals with care experience are treated as if it were a Protected 
Characteristic. 

Page 59



Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer 
 

2 
 

 
3.0 Background 

Care Leavers as a Protected Characteristic  
 
3.1  The Independent Review of Children’s Social Care headed by Josh McCallister 

published in May 2022 a final report and recommendations that included: 
“Government should make care experience a protected characteristic” and “New 
legislation should be passed which broadens corporate parenting responsibilities 
across a wider set of public bodies and organisations.” On Protected 
Characteristics for Care Experience – (Care Review May 2022). 

 
3.2 Many care experienced people face discrimination, stigma, and prejudice in their 

day to day lives. Public perceptions of care experience centre on the idea that 
children are irredeemably damaged and that can lead to discrimination and 
assumptions being made. One young person told the review that a teacher had 
told them “You’re smart - for a kid in care”, another young person said “I don’t want 
people to point out that I am in care if I don’t want that mentioned. It makes me so 
cross – that shouldn’t happen.” 

 
3.3 This stigma and discrimination can be explicit, and often comes with assumptions 

about the likely characteristics of children and adults that have care experience. 
They can also be implicit and are evidenced in the way care experience is 
discussed in schools, workplaces, and the media. At its worst this can lead to care 
experienced people being refused employment, failing to succeed in education or 
facing unfair judgements about their ability to parent when they have children and 
families of their own. 

 
3.4 Hearing testimony from care experienced people sharing the discrimination they 

have experienced, even from a very young age, it is clear that such discrimination 
can be similar in nature to other groups that have a legally protected characteristic 
under the Equality Act (2010). So, while there may be ways that society can help 
reduce stigma and discrimination, including creating greater public consciousness 
on these issues, just as with other areas of equality, there is a case to go further. 
Therefore, the review recommended that the government should make care 
experience a protected characteristic. It also notes that making care experience a 
protected characteristic would provide greater authority to employers, businesses, 
public services, and policy makers to put in place policies and programmes which 
promote better outcomes for care experienced people. It would make the UK the 
first country in the world to recognise care experienced people in this way.  

 
3.5 Care experienced people face significant barriers that impact them throughout 

their lives. Despite the resilience of many care-experienced people, society too 
often does not take their needs into account. Care experienced people often face 
discrimination and stigma across housing, health, education, relationships, 
employment and in the criminal justice system.  

 
3.6 Every elected member and employee of this Council - along with our partner 

agencies - is a corporate parent to the children in our care. We are all responsible 
for providing the best possible care, safeguarding and outcomes for the children 

Page 60



Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer 
 

3 
 

who are looked after by us. Our young people in care those who have left care 
have the right to expect everything from a corporate parent that would be 
expected from a responsible and good parent. This includes how families continue 
their support, care, and ambition for their children after they leave home and gain 
independence. In ensuring that we are being the best corporate parents we can 
be, we are in a position to make a difference. Introducing a protected 
charatcteristic for care experience will mean that some of our most vulnerable 
residents within the borough will be happier, healthier and safer and have the 
confidence and opportunities to be ambitious and strive to achieve their goals. 

 
3.7 We have already made important steps to support our cared for and care 

experienced children better which are referenced in the refresh of the requirement 
to publish a Local Offer to Care Leavers: -  

 
• We made all our care leavers exempt from Council Tax up to the age of 25. 
• We gave our Care Leavers priority status for social housing in  our 

allocations policy. 
• We guarantee interviews to Care Leavers and have ring-fenced 

apprenticeships. 
• We provide free leisure access and activities with a free plus one. 
• We increased “Staying Put” so that young people can stay with foster 

carers and invested alongside our housing partners to provide dedicated 
move on accommodation for young people leaving care who need 
independence. 

  
However, we cannot be complacent, and we know that we can always do more. 

 
3.8 Key points for consideration: 
 

• As corporate parents, we have a collective responsibility for providing the 
best possible care and safeguarding for the children who are looked after 
by us as an authority.  

• All corporate parents should commit to acting as mentors, hearing the 
voices of looked after children and young people and to consider their 
needs in any aspect of council work.  

• All corporate parents should be champions of the children in our care and 
challenge the negative attitudes and prejudice that exists in all aspects of 
society.  

• The Public Sector Equality Duty requires public bodies, such as councils, to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, and victimisation of people 
with protected characteristics. 

 
3.9 It is proposed that in the delivery of the Public Sector Equality Duty, the Council 

includes care experience in the publication and review of Equality Objectives and 
the annual publication of information relating to people who share a Protected 
Characteristic in services and employment; 

 
3.10 That this council will treat care experience as if it were a Protected Characteristic 

so that future services and policies made and adopted by the Council should be 
assessed through Equality Impact Assessments to determine the impact of 

Page 61



Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer 
 

4 
 

changes on people with care experience, alongside those who formally share a 
Protected Characteristic; 

 
3.11 This Council formally calls upon all other bodies to treat care experience as a 

protected characteristic until such time as it may be introduced by legislation.” 
 
3.12 This Council formally call upon other bodies to adopt the corporate parenting 

principles for children in care and care experienced people; 
 
3.13 We also commit to working with Terry Galloway, care leaver champion and 

campaigner as an expert adviser to support implementation. We will provide 
ongoing updates through SMT and relevant key governance bodies.  

 
3.14 We have a commitment to our young people. To ease them into independence. To 

allow them to build a prosperous, healthy, and happy future. These proposals will 
ensure our young people have the tools to do just that. 

 
Telford and Wrekin’s Local Offer to Care Leavers  
 
3.15 The second part of this report is the refresh of the Telford and Wrekin Local Offer 

to care experienced young people in line with Section 2 of the Children and Social 
Work Act 2017. 

 
3.16 The local offer should provide information about all the services and support that is  

available to care leavers from the local authority, including information about both 
statutory entitlements as well as any discretionary support that a local authority 
chooses to provide. A key part of this, is the requirement for Local Authorities to 
provide personal advisors to care leavers up until they reach the age of 25. 

 
3.17 In addition to this, Section 1 of the Children and Social Work Act 2017 requires 

local authorities to have regard to seven corporate parenting principles when 
discharging their functions in relation to looked-after children and care leavers. As 
such, the local offer should set out what support all local authority departmen 
• To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and 

young people; 
• To help those children and young people gain access to and make best use 

of services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners; 
• To promote high aspirations and seek to secure the best outcomes for 

those children and young people; 
• To have regard to the need for those children and young people to be safe 

and have stability in their home lives, relationships and education or work; 
• To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent 

living. 
 
3.18 In 2019, a report was brought to Cabinet to review and sign off the Telford and 

Wrekin Local Offer to Care Leavers. The Offer has now been refreshed with 
additional areas of support included. The Local Offer not only details the statutory 
requirements of support to care leavers, but also includes details of additional 
support and services available within the borough for care leavers who have been 
previously looked after by the Telford and Wrekin Council.  

Page 62



Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer 
 

5 
 

 
3.19 The request from this report is for endorsement in respect of Telford and Wrekin 

Council’s refreshed Local Offer for Care Leavers and agreement that there will be 
an annual update (appendix 1). 

 
3.20 We are continually looking to improve our offer and plan to build the content onto 

bespoke live web pages to enable us to continually update our offer with new 
additions. This includes working with local businesses and organisations, 
encouraging pledges to support care experienced young people. Some examples 
of these pledges include free access to and activities within National Trust sites; 
donations of furniture and contents from within Lovell show homes for young 
people leaving care; Ironbridge Coracle Trust have made an offer to deliver 
stimulating well being activities (social bubble expanding, emotional and mental 
health support) – young people will have the opportunity to try paddling a coracle, 
making a coracle, net making, having fun taking part in the coracle regatta, team 
building and confidence building, creative crafts etc.. 

 
3.21 Since the last review, a significant amount of work has taken place with social care 

and housing colleagues to further develop and strengthen our accommodation 
offer in relation to tailored support and young people at risk of homelessness. Our 
commitments are: 

 
• Telford & Wrekin Council will not find any care leavers who are working with 

us to resolve their housing situation intentionally homeless. 
• TWC will provide a named housing officer to each YP who will work 

alongside you and your personal advisor to provide advice, support and a 
personalised housing plan outlining all options for accommodation and 
support.  The Personal Housing Plan will be a document for you to take 
away which sets out what you need to do and what housing services and 
other agencies will do to help you to reach your housing goal 

• Telford & Wrekin Council will ensure any care leaver that is homeless or 
faced with homelessness is classed as a priority for any suitable 
nominations to Registered Providers for social housing. 

• Telford & Wrekin Council will provide financial support (where applicable) 
for paying a deposit on their new home. 

• Where a care leaver is at risk of becoming homeless, housing or tenancy 
sustainment support will be provided to prevent homelessness, or where 
this is not possible we will provide suitable emergency accommodation.  
Where possible this will be within a 24/7 supported accommodation 
specifically for young people with services who will work intensively with 
you.  

 
N.B. The Joint Housing Protocol should also support the issue of homelessness 

amongst care leavers. 
 
3.22 The Council has secured a £10,000 Virgin social value package to support care 

leavers which is being used to purchase laptops and mobile phones. Alongside 
this, an application has been successful to the National data bank for free data for 
care leavers.  

 

Page 63



Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer 
 

6 
 

3.23 The Council has also introduced 10 free driving lessons for care leavers, 
provisional driving licence; theory test; test booklet / CD Rom / App; practical 
driving test.  

 
3.24 The Council has added to the Annual Governance Statement that every Service 

Delivery Manager is asked to sign to ensure that they are aware of their ongoing 
responsibility as a corporate parent. 

 
3.25 As a Council, we also have agreed to implement phase 2 of the benefits ValU app, 

which will see the extension of elements of the current platform to care leavers – 
this will enable care leavers to access a range of discounts and savings at major 
retailers and supermarkets, as well as access to the Council’s Employee 
Assistance Programme (EAP) through an app on their mobile phone or via a 
website. This will offer financial and emotional wellbeing support to care leavers 
who will be able to take advantage of discounts at major supermarkets / retailers 
as well as accessing a range of wellbeing advice and support on a range of topics 
including financial, physical and emotional wellbeing through the EAP. 

 
3.26 Whilst recognising the challenges faced, we have seen huge resilience and 

aspirations from so many of our care experienced young people. We have a new 
ambitious and enthusiastic participation apprentice after the previous apprentice 
completed their apprenticeship and secured employment.   

 
3.27 We have seen a significant increase in the number of applications to the Leader 

and Cabinet Member Young Person’s Granth Scheme from young people with 
care experience, with applications to support education, employment and training 
and overcome any barriers to support them to achieve their ambitions. 

 
3.28 We have people with care experience working with us in collaboration and 

coproduction, supporting with the design, planning, development and compering of 
conferences and events and playing a key part in the recruitment and training of 
council officers. 

 
3.29 Work will remain ongoing to continue to build our Local Offer to care leavers in 

Telford and Wrekin; across all local authority directorates and with local 
businesses, charities and organisations from across the borough. 

 
 
4.0 Summary of main proposals 

 

4.1 That the Council endorses the refreshed Local Offer to Care Leavers. 

 

4.2 That the Council recognises that care experienced people are a group who are 

likely to face discrimination and that future decisions, services and policies made 

and adopted by the Council should be assessed through Equality Impact 

Assessments to determine the impact of changes on people with care experience, 

alongside those who formally share a protected characteristic. 

 

Page 64



Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer 
 

7 
 

4.3 That in the delivery of the Public Sector Equality Duty the Council includes care 

experience in the publication and review of Equality Objectives and the annual 

publication of information relating to people who share a protected characteristic in 

services and employment. 

 

4.4 That this Council will treat care experience as if it were a Protected Characteristic.   

 
5.0 Alternative Options 

 

5.1 It is a statutory responsibility to publish and promote the Council’s Local Offer to 

Care Leavers. 

 

5.2   Protected characteristic: to wait for national reform. 

 
6.0 Key Risks 

 

6.1 Ongoing prejudice against a group that already suffers disadvantage. Despite care 

experienced people making up around 1.4 per cent of the UK population, they 

account for 25 per cent of homeless people in England and a quarter of the prison 

population. Nearly half of all under 21-year-olds in contact with the criminal justice 

system have been in care. 

 

6.2 Not having an up-to-date Local Offer with all that is available to are experienced 

young people will mean that less awareness of the offer available to support them 

in their transition into adulthood. 

 
7.0 Council Priorities 
 
7.1 Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community. 
 
 
8.0 Financial Implications 
 
8.1 Although there are no direct financial implications arising from these proposals, 

greater awareness of support available could lead to more demand for the 
resources offered. However, by assisting the transition to adulthood, this is likely to 
reduce the need for support, with associated financial costs, as an adult. 

 
 
9.0 Legal and HR Implications 
 
9.1 The Equality Act 2010 is intended to eliminate discrimination and specifically 

references 9 protected characteristics for that purpose, including (but not limited 
to) age, disability, race and religion. The Children and Social Work Act 2017 

Page 65



Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer 
 

8 
 

addresses the corporate parent principles and the duties of the local authority, in 
addition to the related duties under The Children Act 1989. Acknowledging a 
personal characteristic, such as care experience, as being akin to a protected 
characteristic furthers the principles of the Equality Act in the absence of 
legislative change and the addition of a further protected characteristic. 

 
 
10.0 Ward Implications 
 
10.1 All. 
 
 
11.0 Health, Social and Economic Implications 
 
11.1 Young people who have been in out-of-home care are more likely to leave school 

early and are less likely to have a job or earn as much as others. Care leavers are 
much more likely to be homeless or end up in prison, and suffer from poorer 
mental health and higher suicide rates. These outcomes are not inevitable; with 
the right foundations and supports, young people can transition successfully from 
care and live happy and fulfilling lives. 

  
 
12.0 Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
12.1 The guidance states: ‘When developing their local offer, local authorities are 

required to consult with relevant persons, which means care leavers and 
organisations or people that represent care leavers. Local authorities should 
consider how best to engage and consult with as many of their care leavers as 
possible. 

 
 
13.0 Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
13.1 Where as an authority we are building or refurbishing properties to provide move 

on accommodation we will seek to maximise energy efificency measures and 
minimise climate impact of that accommodation.  

 
 
14.0  Background Papers 

 
None  

 
15.0  Appendices 
 

A Telford and Wrekin Local Offer to Care Leavers 
  
  
  

16.0  Report Sign Off 
 

Page 66



Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer 
 

9 
 

Signed off by Date sent Date signed off Initials  
Director 09/02/2023 10/02/2023 DK 
Legal 09/02/2023 10/02/2023 ON 
Finance 09/02/2023 13/02/2023 TD 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



LOCAL OFFER 
TO OUR YOUNG 
PEOPLE who are

leaving care

Telford & Wrekin Council’s

April 2022

Page 69



CONTENTS
1 We want to talk to you about our Local Offer 3
2 Who is the Local Offer for? 5
3 How we can support you 6
4 The type of help you can expect to receive 8
5 Personal Adviser (PA) for Eligible, Relevant and Former 9 

Relevant young people
6 Leavers Lounge 10
7 The Care Leaver Covenant 12
8 Your Rights 13
9 Accommodation 14
10 Support to engage in Education, Training and Employment 17
11 Health and Wellbeing 19
12 Money Matters 21
13 Relationships  22
14 Participation in Society 23
15 Other areas of support 25
16 Our commitment to you in Telford and Wrekin 27
17 Key contacts 30

PAGE

Page 70



We want to let you know what help and support is 
available to you.

Adulthood can be a difficult time, where you will face change and have to 
make decisions about your future. We are here to support you. 

As your Corporate Parents we have a duty of care for you and as any 
reasonable parent, we want to equip you with the skills you need to navigate 
your adult life. 

We have spoken to a number of you about this booklet and you have worked 
with us to make sure this is right for you!  

1 WE WANT TO TALK 
TO YOU ABOUT OUR 
LOCAL OFFER 

3

Page 71



What the Children and Social Work Act 2017 says 
about the Care Leaver Offer:

A local authority in England must publish information about:
a) services which the local authority offers for care leavers as a result of its 

functions under the Children Act 1989; 
b) other services which the local authority offers that may assist care 

leavers in, or in preparing for adulthood and independent living. 

This includes services which may assist care leavers in, or in preparing for 
adulthood and independent living include services relating to:
a) health and wellbeing; 
b) relationships; 
c) education and training; 
d) employment; 
e) accommodation; 
f) participation in society. 

Where it considers appropriate, a local authority in England must publish 
information about services for care leavers offered by others which the local 
authority has power to offer as a result of its functions under the Children 
Act 1989. 

Information required to be published by a local authority under this section 
is to be known as its “local offer for care leavers”.

4

Page 72



To be able to get the support set out in the Local Offer, you must have been; 
• In care for at least 13 weeks between the ages of 14 and 16 (including 

your 16th Birthday); or 
• In care for 13 weeks after your 16th birthday.

If you are not sure whether you qualify for support, then ask your Personal 
Adviser (PA). Your Personal Adviser will talk with you about the information in 
the local offer.

The local offer is available online www.telford.gov.uk/leavingcare 

You can also ask your Personal Adviser for a printed copy.

2 WHO IS THE 
LOCAL OFFER FOR?

5

Page 73



Depending on your circumstances and the time you spent in care, the law 
describes four different groups of young people who are care experienced: 
• Eligible. 
• Relevant. 
• Former Relevant. 
• Qualifying. 

You are an eligible young person if: 
• You are aged 16 or 17; and 
• You are currently in care; 

And
• You have been in care for a period of 13 weeks (or episodes which add 

up to 13 weeks) since your 14th birthday and at least one day whilst you 
were 16 or 17 years old.

3 HOW WE CAN 
SUPPORT YOU

6

Page 74



You are a relevant young person if:
• You are no longer in care, but you have been eligible and; 
• You are 16 or 17 years old. 

You are a former relevant young person if: 
• You are aged 18-25; 
• Immediately before you reached 18 you were an eligible or relevant young 

person. 

You are a qualifying young person if: 
• You are aged 16-21 (or up to 25 if in education) and were in care for a short 

time on or after your 16th birthday. 

Coram Voice has a useful link to help you work out if you are a care leaver 
https://coramvoice.org.uk/young-peoples-zone/am-i-care-leaver

7

Page 75

https://coramvoice.org.uk/young-peoples-zone/am-i-care-leaver


Eligible Relevant Former 
Relevant

Qualifying

Regularly reviewed 
Pathway Plan based 
on what we agree you 
need.

4 4 4 We can talk to you about 
your support needs and 
could draw up a Pathway 
Plan.

Personal Adviser. 4 4 4 Depends on the support 
you need.

Take reasonable 
steps to keep in 
touch at least every 
eight weeks.

4 4 4 Depends on the support 
you need.

Find and 
maintain suitable 
accommodation.

4 4 4 We can provide advice, 
guidance and signposting.

Help to meet your 
education, training or 
employment needs.

4 4 4 We can provide advice 
and guidance.

4 THE TYPE OF 
HELP YOU CAN 
EXPECT TO RECEIVE

8

Page 76



Your PA will work with you, your Social Worker, Foster Carer or Keyworker and 
other people who are important to you to support you to develop your life skills 
and become more independent.

Your PA will aim to meet with you at least every eight weeks up to age 21. You 
will be able to ask for support from your PA up to the age of 25, it makes no 
difference if you are in education, employment or training. This is to make sure 
you have the same support like other young people living with their parents.

A Pathway Plan is a written document that looks at what skills you have 
and identify what skills you need to develop for adulthood. Your Pathway 
Plan helps you to set goals and identify what needs to done, who will do the 
tasks and by when.

Every young person’s Pathway Plan is different and your Pathway Plan will 
vary depending on the support you need. We will review your plan every six 
months, from 16-18 by your Social Worker and from 18 to 21 by your PA 
and possibly up to 25.

We will aim to make sure you have the same PA while the team work with 
you, but sometimes this may change. We also have Duty PAs that you can 
call on 01952 385817 if your PA is not available.

If you are not happy with your support, it is an important life skill to try and 
resolve any issues. You can speak to the Leaving Care Team Manager see 
useful contact details.

5 PERSONAL 
ADVISER (PA)
for Eligible, Relevant and Former Relevant 
young people

9

Page 77



Hi my name is Jess, I am a Care Experienced young 
person and employed by our corporate parents as a 
Participation Apprentice. I have been part of the care 
council and was a looked after child until I was 18. 

I have already taken my steps through care. I’m now here to help you 
on your journey, understand your options and ensure our opinions and 
experiences shape the support we receive. 

Telford’s Local Offer is a guide produced to give you, as a care experienced 
young person, an idea of what support and services you can expect from 
Telford & Wrekin Council. It is designed to cut the confusion and give you 
a clearer understanding of exactly what help you should be getting and 
what else can assist you on your transition to independence. It’s also a list 
of pledges and offers that help improve your life and hopefully make your 
move into adulthood less scary and more fulfilling. It provides advice around 
things like keeping you safe, finding suitable accommodation, helping you in 
to work, education or training. The aim is to help you grow, learn, aspire and 
achieve and to make sure that your home is a happy place to live. 

I would like to invite you personally to The Leavers Lounge, at Meeting Point 
House. It is home to our Participation Team. It’s a friendly, informal place to 
come and receive support, participate in lots of different activities and meet 
other care experienced young people like myself. Come join our Leavers 
Come First Forum, see your PA, use our sensory room to chill out with a 
cuppa. There’s a warm welcome awaiting you!

6 THE LEAVERS 
LOUNGE 

Leavers Lounge
Meeting Point House
Southwater Square
Telford
TF3 4HS

10

Page 78



Hi my name is Jess, I am a Care Experienced young 
person and employed by our corporate parents as a 
Participation Apprentice. I have been part of the care 
council and was a looked after child until I was 18. 

I have already taken my steps through care. I’m now here to help you 
on your journey, understand your options and ensure our opinions and 
experiences shape the support we receive. 

Telford’s Local Offer is a guide produced to give you, as a care experienced 
young person, an idea of what support and services you can expect from 
Telford & Wrekin Council. It is designed to cut the confusion and give you 
a clearer understanding of exactly what help you should be getting and 
what else can assist you on your transition to independence. It’s also a list 
of pledges and offers that help improve your life and hopefully make your 
move into adulthood less scary and more fulfilling. It provides advice around 
things like keeping you safe, finding suitable accommodation, helping you in 
to work, education or training. The aim is to help you grow, learn, aspire and 
achieve and to make sure that your home is a happy place to live. 

I would like to invite you personally to The Leavers Lounge, at Meeting Point 
House. It is home to our Participation Team. It’s a friendly, informal place to 
come and receive support, participate in lots of different activities and meet 
other care experienced young people like myself. Come join our Leavers 
Come First Forum, see your PA, use our sensory room to chill out with a 
cuppa. There’s a warm welcome awaiting you!

I was part of The Voice growing up, this is the young person’s forum, open to 
Children In Care up to the age of 16. It listened to my own voice and that of the 
other members, and helped us feel listened to and supported.

I would like to personally invite you to the Leavers Come First Forum;
After moving on from the Voice, I’m now part of the Leavers Come First Forum, 
which is like the Voice but for care experienced young people over age 16. We talk 
about our shared experiences, socialise and help improve the council’s services, as 
well as participating in some great activities. We want your support to ensure the 
voice of care experienced young people is heard and is leading the way in shaping 
services that support us. 

Please arrange to visit through your PA. We look forward to meeting you!

11

Page 79



Telford & Wrekin Council offer support and expect all young adults leaving care to have 
the same opportunities with education, employment and training as children growing 
up in their birth families homes. In fact, Telford & Wrekin Council have made this very 
promise a specific priority across all council services. 

Have you heard about the care leaver covenant? www.mycovenant.org.uk

The covenant is a pledge made by public, private and voluntary organisations to 
support all young adults leaving care to be successful. 

What does this mean I hear you say – well, in a nutshell, it details many exciting 
opportunities for young adults leaving care to apply for example, for employment and 
work placements and internships with big businesses, government departments, 
museums, theatres, or Premier League football clubs, as well as training workshops or 
life-skills coaching.

In addition to the private and voluntary sector offers, the package of support for young 
adults leaving care includes an opportunity for:
• 12 month internships from every government department in Whitehall, including 100 

12 month internships from January 2019;
• Support from universities, such as bursaries and accommodation, with Cambridge, 

Leeds, and Manchester universities committing to supporting Care experienced 
young people – data shows that only 6 per cent of Care experienced young people 
aged 19 to 21 go on to higher education; and

• Resources and tools from Barclays Life Skills to help Care experienced young 
people to manage their money better, as they often lack the safety net of financial 
support from their families.

• Ring fenced apprenticeships within the council.

Watch this space for developments on this and how Telford & Wrekin Council are 
developing a similar ‘offer’ in terms of local opportunities. 

It could not be easier to access, either through the free app, care leaver covenant on 
the app store, https://mycovenant.org.uk or through your PA.

7 CARE LEAVER 
COVENANT

12

Page 80



Helping you to understand your history

We will help you understand your rights and advocate on your behalf, helping 
you access information about you and providing support if you need to make a 
complaint. 

Children’s Services have to keep written case records of your care history. These 
records must be kept for 75 years. You can request your records any time after 
you become 18 years old. You do not have to read through the information on 
your own. It can be upsetting or confusing to do this alone and we want to help 
you understand what is in your file and why.

Your PA can support you or you can bring a friend. We would strongly suggest 
that you do not do this on your own. You need to request to see your records 
in writing. Children’s Services must then respond to you in writing giving the 
timescale. It must happen within 40 days. 

You may find that some of the information is not available for you to read. This 
is because some of the information in your records may identify other people 
known as third parties. Additionally, if there is information that may seriously 
harm your physical or mental health it may not be given to you.

Independent support

You have a right to support from an independent advocate if you want to 
challenge decisions about the support we give you.

Independent advocates can inform you about your rights and help you to be 
heard in meetings. They are separate from Children’s Services and are available 
to Care experienced young people up to the age of 25.

You can contact an Independent Advocate either through your PA or by yourself 
by calling 01952 385112/385102. 

8 YOUR RIGHTS

13

Page 81



We will encourage you to stay safely in care until you are 18, but if you are 
aged 16-17 and choose to no longer live in the accommodation provided, 
the council will make sure that you have a safe and suitable place to live in, 
this could be with a Supported Lodgings Provider or in Supported Housing. 

By working together on your future plans we will provide financial support 
to live within semi independent accommodation, until you can apply for 
Universal Credit and other relevant benefits when you are 18.

In preparation of you turning 18 your Social Worker with your PA and other 
services will work with you to explore your accommodation options. When 
over the age of 18 your PA and our partners will help you find suitable housing.

How we do this;
• A ‘Staying Put’ arrangement for if you want to stay living with your Foster 

Carers, and they agree, up to age 21, or until the agreed programme of 
education or training being undertaken on 21st birthday is completed, 
ask your PA for a Staying Put leaflet.

• Your residential provider may offer a ‘Stay Close’ arrangement, which 
could include move on action and practical and emotional support from 
the residential provider. We will help you explore if this is an option. 

• Care Leavers are a priority needs group for social housing, we will always 
work closely with you to try to ensure you will move to social housing in a 
planned way

• Supported Lodgings or Shared Lives accommodation, where you have 
your own room in a family home and they will support you, until you are 
ready to move on.

• Shared accommodation – this might be with friends, peers, or other 
young people.

• Help to find a tenancy when you are ready and providing advice on how to 
maintain it including paying your bills and being a responsible neighbour.

9 ACCOMMODATION

14

Page 82



• Offer practical moving in help which includes funding the 
removal cost of your first independent home and advice how 
to look after your home i.e. decorating, cleaning and reporting 
repairs.

• Your landlord may provide financial assistance to help you 
decorate your new home if this is not available from your 
landlord the Leaving Care Team can l provide this. 

• Offering independent living skills workshops on practical skills 
such as how to cook and maintain your own home.

• Support with sourcing vacation time accommodation for care 
experienced young people who are in higher education.

• Supporting access to your Setting Up Home grant of up to 
£2559.00 in total for essential items to furnish and set up your 
first property as you need it up to age 25 this includes content 
insurance for first year independent living, TV Licence, Home 
Starter Pack, cooker fitting and removals.

• Council Tax exemption for care experienced young people up to 
the age of 25.

• A reduction on your water bills with Severn Trent, who can offer 
up to 70% off for care experienced young people.

• Assist in helping you secure a property, for example with your 
deposit costs directly or through the housing service.

• Support you with accessing the Tesco Mobile offer of free SIM 
card with three months data, text and calls.

• In some circumstances, the council will act as a guarantor for 
you if you need a privately rented property and social housing 
isn’t available.

• Provide Winter Weather payment of £10 per week from 1st 
October to 31st March in first year of living independent.

• If you are in receipt of Universal Credit, your UC Job Coach will 
help you with accessing the TalkTalk Broadband Offer via the 
DWP.

15

Page 83



Housing Services

• Telford & Wrekin Council will not find any care leavers who are working 
with us to resolve their housing situation intentionally homeless.

• Telford & Wrekin Council will provide a named housing officer to each 
young person who will work alongside you and your personal advisor 
to provide advice, support and a personalised housing plan outlining all 
options for accommodation and support. The Personal Housing Plan will 
be a document for you to take away which sets out what you need to 
do and what housing services and other agencies will do to help you to 
reach your housing goal.

• Telford & Wrekin Council will ensure any care leaver that is homeless 
or faced with homelessness is classed as a priority for any suitable 
nominations to Registered Providers for social housing.

• Telford & Wrekin Council will provide financial support (where applicable) 
for paying a deposit on their new home.

• Where a care leaver is at risk of becoming homeless, housing or 
tenancy sustainment support will be provided to prevent homelessness, 
or where this is not possible we will provide suitable emergency 
accommodation. Where possible this will be within a 24/7 supported 
accommodation specifically for young people with services who will 
work intensively with you.

16

Page 84



We provide opportunities to the young people we care for and have cared 
for, to help you achieve your aspirations. We work with the council’s careers 
service and our partners to find suitable opportunities that meet your needs.

How we do this:
• Careers information and advice.
• Support to access the Further Education Bursary (16-19 available 

through your education provider).
• CV and interview coaching from our Partners, the Virtual School or 

through the Care Leavers Covenant, who can support you in writing a top 
quality application and show you how best to answer interview questions 
to secure you a position.

• Support you to refine your work interests via work experience and 
shadowing opportunities through the virtual school, partners, or Care 
Leaver Covenant 

• Telford & Wrekin Council operate a guaranteed interview scheme 
for all care experienced young people applying for employment and 
apprenticeship posts.

• Telford & Wrekin Council offer ring fenced Apprenticeship opportunities 
for care experienced young people on the Apprenticeship pay rate.

• Young people leaving care who choose to start an apprenticeship will 
receive a £1000 bursary to help with the transition into the workplace 
(The £1000 bursary is paid via your training provider, the payment is 
triggered once the learner has been on programme for 12 weeks).

• Support to access a free Arriva Bus Pass through DWP or the council 
to travel around the borough, for instance to and from interviews, work 
experience, jobs until first wage, college until bursary in place, and 
university visits.

• We will help you to inform the Job Centre of any changes in your 
circumstances if you wish.

• We will provide you guidance to help you maximise financial support 
linked to education, training or employment.  

10 SUPPORT TO ENGAGE 
IN EDUCATION, TRAINING 
AND EMPLOYMENT

17

Page 85



• If you have any Special Educational Needs we will make sure you receive any 
additional help or support you require and access specialist support such as the 
SEND offer until 25.

• We will keep you up to date with forthcoming local job fairs and support you to 
attend these.

• Support will be provided to understand your rights and entitlements when 
employed.

• If you attend University Telford and Wrekin provide a Higher Education Grant of 
£2000 which will be split in to equal instalments (annually) throughout the duration 
of the course up to the age of 25.

• If you are planning to attend University we can support you by;
 • helping you consider your options,
 • help you to sign up for open days, and provide travel support to attend if you 

need
 • complete UCAS applications,
 • complete student finance forms,
 • help you search for  and support you to apply for scholarships and additional 

bursaries you may be entitled to,
 • source suitable accommodation to meet your individual needs.
• If you choose to enter full time higher education, we will provide you with a higher 

education accommodation allowance that is equivalent of the local housing 
allowance rate where you choose to study up to 21 or 25 if needed. This also 
funds your accommodation during vacation times.

• We hold events to celebrate your achievements. This may be an annual event 
evening or in a personal way, for example Hotshots award nomination, taking you 
out for a meal.

• We will help with access to transport costs when travelling to training, school, 
college, apprenticeships or job interviews, through your Young Person’s Learner 
Agreement.

• We will provide help obtaining equipment, essential clothing and books to 
support education, training or employment.

• The Marches Growth Hub offer 1:1 advice to care experienced young people with 
a focus on individual career routes, learning and development and employment 
opportunities.

• The Marches Growth Hub will also advise you how to become self-employed 
through their ‘becoming an Entrepreneur’ session.

• We will be able to support you with work and interview clothing costs.
• We will encourage you to apply for our annual Leader and Cabinet member 

Young Person’s Grant scheme which will support you with travel passes or other 
barriers to you accessing education, employment or training. 

18

Page 86



We will encourage you to be healthy, your PA will help you achieve this with the 
support of our Health and Wellbeing Partners.

How we do this:
• Offer easy access to specialist services such as sexual health.
• Help to register with health services including doctors, dentist and an 

optician. We can also support you in attending appointments if you need, 
including transport costs after an assessment of need.

• Offer free prescriptions up to the age of 25
• Give you information on getting help to pay for prescriptions using the NHS 

Low Income Scheme, if you qualify.
• Give you information about counselling services that are available local to you 

and offer support to attend.
• Provide you with access to council leisure centres, which have gyms, fitness 

classes, yoga and swimming pools – as we know that physical activity is 
beneficial to having good mental health. You can also bring a friend for free!

• If you are a young parent, we will support you to do the best for your child. 
We will help you arrange childcare, if this is what you want. We will support 
you to attend important appointments about your child.

• Give you information about health drop-in sessions.
• Support you to stop smoking with the help of Stop Smoking Telford
• Give you information about local sexual health centres and how you can 

access their services and free confidential advice.
• Help you to manage your emotional wellbeing – this may include a referral or 

signposting to other support agencies.
• Support from a Healthy Life Style adviser for health improvement advice 

(healthy eating, being more active, drinking less and quitting smoking) and 
the opportunity to train as a Health Champion to volunteer in a health and 
community setting.

11 HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING

19

Page 87



Your PA and Telford & Wrekin Leisure Services want to support access to 
leisure facilities and activities.

How we do this:
• Provide access to leisure services and activities via the 

councils concessionary Telford Loyalty Card Scheme (TLC).
• Free Aspiration health and fitness memberships* to the 

age of 25 and concessionary membership rates to the 
person accompanying you.

• Free public swimming at our baths.
• Visit our Bike Hub in Telford Town Park for advice 

on cycling locally
• Assist in signposting you towards suitable 

sporting clubs or groups.

* To redeem Telford & Wrekin Leisure 
Services offer, we will provide you with a 
letter to take into any leisure centre and 
ask for your Care Leaver Membership.

LEISURE

• Provide a Health Passport when you turn 18 – a Health Passport is a summary of 
your health history, including things like when you have had certain immunisations, 
medication, and so on. You and our looked after nurse will work together to 
complete your Health Passport. They will discuss your health history and will be able 
to explore the services that may be available to you and you can ask any questions 
you may have regarding your health and wellbeing.

• Support to access adult social care beyond your 18th birthday if this is needed.
• We offer dedicated sessions at the Calm Café for care experienced young people to 

support your mental wellbeing.

20

Page 88



We will try to help you financially, in a similar way to how parents would support their 
own children.

How we do this:
• Support you with budgeting through our partners such as Lloyds who offer 

workshops on financial skills for independence.
• Direct you to the Money Advice Service if you need help about managing your 

expenses and any debt you may have
• Sign post you to support services such as Citizens Advice.
• Help you to open a bank account.
• Prior to leaving care we will ensure that you have valid identity documents: a current 

passport, a provisional or full driving licence and copy of your birth certificate. These 
will help you access benefits if you need them, and open a bank account of your 
own. We will also ensure you have your National Insurance number,

• Support you to access your Setting Up Home Grant up to £2559 in total for 
essential items to furnish and set up your first property as you need it up to age 25 
this includes content insurance for first year independent living, TV Licence, Home 
Starter Pack, cooker fitting and removals.

• We will pay for your TV Licence for the first 12 months in accommodation that 
requires this.

• Support and Information to access your savings and JISA if you have them. We can 
also show you how to set up a savings account.

• Support, Advice and Guidance on applying for Criminal Injury Compensation 
Authority Awards if relevant with the option to support you to set up a funded Telford 
and Wrekin Leaving Care Trust Fund to be held up to age 21/25.

• Support and Information to access Telford and Wrekin Leaving Care Introduction to 
Driving package

• Support you to keep in contact with family and friends through train or bus tickets.
• Exceptional financial support in emergencies as a young person who has left care.
• Providing Birthday and Festival gifts/allowances – as set out in our finance policy 

and your PA can share the young persons guide to this 
• All Telford and Wrekin Care Experienced Young People, up to the age of 25, can 

apply for up to 100% council tax exemption.
• As a care leaver, you can access bursary payments from your college or training 

provider, your Personal Adviser will be able to provide you with a supporting letter 
detailing your eligibility to this funding.

11 MONEY MATTERS

21

Page 89



As well as support from a PA, we may be able to offer you additional practical 
and emotional support, such as:
• Where appropriate, continuing to support contact with the ‘Independent 

Visitor’ you had while you were in care;
• Help to maintain or regain contact with people special to you or who cared 

for you in the past, like birth family and wider family and friends, former foster 
carers or social workers.

• We will support you with life story and with supporting you with identity.
• We can support you using our Volunteer Leaving Care Mentors, who can 

support you with all manner of things, from moving home and decorating, 
to advocacy during mediation should you want to regain or maintain contact 
with friends, previous carers, or family.

• We can provide advice on how to access services and training to learn 
about positive and healthy relationships

• Visiting places of worship – for those aged 16-21yrs, we could help with the 
cost of public transport to a specific place of worship on special occasions 
(for example during festive periods).

13 RELATIONSHIPS

22

Page 90



We want you to have all the chances in life that other young adults have and we 
will encourage you to develop your interests and get involved in positive activities. 
People can participate in their communities or in society in different ways and some 
people want to participate more than others. 

We will do our best to find opportunities for you to participate in something that 
interests you or develop your interests, which you can then pursue independently. 
We will do this in the following ways:
• By providing information on Leavers Lounge and community participation 

groups and events clubs you may wish to join
• Encouraging you to take part in Leavers Come First, Monthly Care Experienced 

Young People’s Forum and National Care Leavers Week. This will allow you to 
directly influence service developments for you and other young people who are 
care-experienced.

• You will have the opportunity to feed into our Corporate Parenting Panel through 
our Young Persons Panel to ensure that the voice of care experienced young 
people is heard.

• You can act as a Peer Mentor, supporting other care experienced young people 
• If you help us with consultation, interviews, or other engagement activities you 

will be paid in the form of vouchers at a rate of £5 p/hr 
• We will help you take part in events and activities such as the Summer Arts 

Project (up to the age 19) and the Hot Shots Awards, and attend the celebration 
events for these

• Informing you about relevant awards, schemes and competitions you can enter, 
in line with your talents and interests

• Encouraging and helping you to enrol on the Electoral Register, so you can vote 
in elections.

• Encouraging you to tell us how we are doing and any areas you think we can 
get better at through surveys written by care experienced young people.

• Informing and possibly helping you with the cost of leisure activities, and 
ensuring you make use of our free leisure provision at our borough centres.

• Informing you about voluntary work that we think you may be interested in.

14 PARTICIPATION 
IN SOCIETY

23

Page 91



• Giving you advice and helping you to challenge any discrimination you face 
as a care experienced young person.

• Virgin Media have provided a grant to help purchase smart phone, laptops, 
tablets and data packages to keep you connected and in touch with people 
and key services 

Care leavers and support workers can sign up to Connects. We will keep 
you up to date with relevant work, education and recreational opportunities, as 
well as information about the support that care leavers may be able to access. In 
addition to this, care leavers will be automatically entered into our give-aways!
https://mycovenant.org.uk/for-care-leavers/connects/

24

Page 92



15 OTHER AREAS 
OF SUPPORT

If you are going to become a Parent

If you are a parent or if you are expecting a baby, we will support you to do the 
best for them.

• Your GP and midwife can talk to you about the health services available to 
you

• Your personal adviser can give you information about financial support and 
schemes in place to support you

• We will help you arrange childcare if this is what you want
• If you are a first time Mum, we can make a referral to the family nurse 

partnership for extra support.
• We can introduce you to the care leaver champion in your local Children’s 

Centre. The role of a champion is to help welcome you and ensure that you 
feel comfortable. They can meet you with your personal adviser and come 
and visit you at home.

• We can make a referral for specialist parenting support to prepare you for 
having a baby and for advice and support once your baby arrives.

• We will provide you with a hamper of baby goodies to celebrate the arrival of 
your new baby.

• Your will receive £100 festival allowance age 18-21

If you are UASC (an Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking 
Child):

Former unaccompanied children who qualify as care experienced young people 
and who have been granted leave to remain in the United Kingdom, or who have 
an outstanding asylum or other human rights claim or appeal, are entitled to the 
same level of care and support from the local authority as any other care leaver. 
We will make sure you have a pathway plan in place that is suited to you, your 
needs, and your wishes.

25

Page 93



Following an assessment of need, Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children 
aged 16 & 17 years can be provided with a £5.00 per week phone card/contact 
allowance where they have significant family members overseas. 

If you have lost contact with your family from your country of origin, we will support 
you by linking you with agencies who help to trace families (for example British Red 
Cross).

If you are in custody or have involvement from 
probation:

• The Prison, Probation and Local Authority will work together to provide 

consistent and appropriate support.

If you have been in custody, you are entitled to the same level of PA support as all 
our other young people up to 21/ 25.

Care experienced young people in custody will receive:
• You can request support from your Personal Adviser up to age 25, you can do 

this  where you did not want further support at 21
• Where possible you can keep the same Personal Adviser up to age 25
• Family members can access the Assisted Prison Visits scheme via DWP 

and where this is not available the leaving care team can complete a needs 
assessment for family member travel assistance

• If aged 16 & 17 and the institution does not provide an allowance scheme, we 
will provide £10 per week pocket money and £5 per week clothing allowance

• Provide the applicable Birthday and Festival allowance up to age 21 
• Care experienced young people who have been in custody have access to the 

£2559 setting up home grant. Where young people are being discharged from 
hospital or being released from custody immediately prior to, or immediately 
after their 25th birthday, the final pathway plan you and your PA work on should 
set out when and how the Setting Up Home Grant will be accessed and used. 
If you don’t have a discharge or release date by your 25th birthday, the service 
and the provision of the grant will cease, as the use of the Setting Up Home 
Grant should be completed by 25½.  

• Support to access to the prisons resettlement service to claim universal credit 
28 days prior to release.

• If available, support to access the Rees Foundation – support to care 
experienced young people in custody or have probation involvement

• Access prison discharge grant and travel warrant 
• Upon release we can meet you at the gates

26

Page 94



16 OUR COMMITMENTS 
TO YOU IN TELFORD 
AND WREKIN

Getting ready for adulthood: 
• We will help you with the things that change when you stop being a child 

who is ‘looked after’ and when you become a young adult leaving care. 
• We will help you remain with your foster family for as long as possible. We 

will only start thinking about independent living with you when you are ready.
• We will help you maintain relationships with your carers, family, friends and 

social networks so that you have help and support during and after you leave 
our care.

• We will help you to understand what you need to be able to successfully live 
on your own and to be happy. 

• We will also show you that we understand that leaving our care is a big step 
and that you need our patience and understanding, even when you make 
mistakes.

Practical Support:
• We will make it our priority to help you to find and keep a welcoming home 

where you feel safe. 
• We will help you learn how to take care of yourself, stay healthy and safe, 

manage your money, take care of your home, achieve your aspirations, and 
have good relationships, able to raise families of your own if that is what you 
would like to do.

• We will understand that just because you become 18, this does not mean 
you will suddenly know all there is to know about being an adult. 

• We will support you when you make mistakes and when we feel worried 
about you. 

• We will make sure especially during the tough times, that we stand ready to 
help you. 

• We will make sure that we see you at least every eight weeks ((you can see 
us regularly by joining events or attending the leavers lounge) and more often 
when you first leave our care. We respect your choice to see us less if that is 
what you would like.

27

Page 95



• We will help you to understand how to deal with conflicts and challenges without 
getting angry and frustrated at others or making things worse. We will help you 
through our own example, being patient and understanding., We will support 
you have a plan B to fall back upon if things don’t go according to plan.

• We understand that as an adult you may make choices that are not good for 
you and may even mean that you are unsafe. We know that you are free to 
make such a choice, but we will always act to help you to protect yourselves 
and others around you. There may be times that we need to make contact with 
other services or people who can help you. If we need to do this, we will make 
sure that you know and are clear about what will happen next. 

• We will help you to find special support, like therapy or counselling, when the 
time is right for you and if you tell us that this would help you.

• We will make sure that you feel part of our Telford and Wrekin “Corporate family” 
and like other families, we understand that you need to have a sense that you 
belong and are valued. 

• We will help other people in the council understand this when you may need 
their support, for example with housing or other services.

Our Relationship:
• We will always help you dream and aspire to be what you want to be.
• We will help you to believe that you will continue to grow and to succeed. 
• Your pathway plan will be something that inspires you to achieve great things in 

your life, whatever that means for you. 
• We will always listen to you, even when we don’t agree with one another.
• We will hear you out and help you to speak your mind in a way that helps you be 

heard by others who need to listen. 
• We will include you in all of the important decisions that need to be made about 

your life and your future.
• We will respect the times when you need some personal space or may not be 

ready to see or speak with us. We will always leave the door open so that you 
know you can seek us out when you are ready to receive our help or advice. You 
will receive help and support from us up until the age of 25.

• We will make sure that your current Social Worker or Personal Adviser does not 
leave you without saying goodbye and introducing you to the new adult who 
will be supporting you. All our Personal Advisers will understand that getting to 
know you and to earn your trust will take time. 

• We will help you identify the triggers that may lead you to become angry, lash 
out, hurt yourself or turn to drugs or alcohol to cope. 

28

Page 96



• We will help you plan for these situations and identify who you can turn to for help 
when you need it. If it is helpful, we will help you to make a safety plan so that you 
have some control at times when you feel vulnerable and worried.

• We will not make commitments to you unless we know we can honour them. We 
know that our honesty will be important if you are to trust and work with us. That 
may mean that sometimes we have to say things to you even when it may not be 
what you want or like to hear. 

• We will help you to understand your history and how it is you came to be in our 
care. We recognise that having your life story book, pictures and mementoes are all 
important to your recalling important people and events in your life. We will support 
you if you find this upsetting and if you want to see your case files, we will make 
sure that your Personal Adviser is available to help you read through papers and to 
ask questions. 

• We will make sure that you understand your rights and your responsibilities. This will 
include knowing who else can help you to express your views if you want to make 
a complaint because you feel you have been treated unfairly. If we are not able to 
keep these commitments to you, we understand that this will mean you may need 
to complain. 

• We will always offer you a hug, a smile, or a shoulder to cry on if that will help. It’s ok 
for you to say no though! 

Your commitments to us:

So that we can have the best relationship together through these commitments, 
we ask that you try your very best to:
• Treat us with respect, even when you don’t agree with suggestions we are 

making.
• Keep in touch with us as much as you can or feel comfortable with.
• Share your successes with us so we can celebrate together.
• Listen to and think about our advice and guidance, even if you don’t always 

follow it.
• Let us know if you feel we are treating you unfairly or if we have made a 

mistake. We would like a chance to make things right.
• Accept our support, and let us know when you don’t want or need our help.
• Understand that we have to make decisions about your safety when the law 

says we must or when you are in danger.
• Apologise and take responsibility for your actions when you make mistakes.
• Keep working hard on your goals, dreams and ambitions to the best of your 

ability.
• Be open and honest with us as much as possible.
• Tell us what your views, wishes and feelings are on anything we do to help.
• Let us know if you are worried, in trouble or making decisions that are not 

good for you

29

Page 97



17 USEFUL CONTACTS
Key Contact Number Description Contact

Leaving Care Team General support for young people 
leaving care

01952 385817 or email 
TWCreleavers@telford.gov.uk

Emergency Duty Team 
(out of hours) 

Emergency social work service for 
urgent situations out of normal office 
hours and which cannot be left until the 
next normal working day

01952 676500

Jo Britton Director of Children’s Services 01952 385008

Customer Complaints, 
Compliments and 
Feedback

For all feedback, complaints and 
compliments

01952 382006 or email customer.
relationship@telford.gov.uk or online
https://webforms.telford.gov.uk/
form/148

Rights and 
Representations

Independent safeguarding, quality and 
advocacy

Mike Bould 01952 385112
Amanda Farrington 01952 385102

Citizens Advice Bureau General advice 0300 330 1165

Accommodation

Housing Solution Team Temporary/emergency housing 01952 381925

Maninplace Temporary accommodation 01952 248248

KIP Temporary Accommodation 01952 256007

Shelter – Birmingham General housing advice 0808 800 4444 or online 
www.shelter.org.uk

Education, Training and Employment

Future Focus 16-19 careers advice 01952 388988

Job Box 19+ training/employment advice 01952 382888

E.A.S.T Employment support for people with 
disabilities

01952 382888

Juniper Training Training provider 01952 299016

Nova Training Training provider 01952 243380

County Training Training provider 0345 678 9023

Enable Employment support for people with 
disabilities

01743 276900

Landau Training provider 01952 245015

Total People Training provider 01952 681030

Unite Foundation University accommodation scholarship 0117 302 7073 or email info@
unitefoundation.org.uk or online 
thisisusatuni.org

30

Page 98



Key Contact Number Description Contact

Health and Wellbeing

Doctor/Doctor/Optician Find a service near you visit www.nhs.uk and search your postcode

NHS England General health advice 111

Police – non 
emergency

General advice 101

Samaritans Support for wellbeing and people 
having suicidal thoughts

116 123

ChildLine Crisis and Wellbeing support 0800 1111

Telford Wellbeing 
Service 

Mental health and wellbeing support 01952 457415

Healthy Life Style 
Service  

Support regarding health, smoking, 
physical activity

01952 382582

Telford Sexual Health 
Services

General advice around sexual health 
matters

0808 178 0955

Recharge Addiction and wellbeing support 01952 660000

Leisure

Telford & Wrekin Leisure Services 01952 382770

Finance

Jobcentre Plus Benefit advice 0800 169 0190

Citizens Advice Bureau General advice around housing, debt 
and benefits

0300 330 1165
www.citizensadvice.org.uk

The Money Advice 
Service 

General money advice 0800 138 7777

Fair Share Credit Union Basic bank account and loans 01952 200200

Step Change Monday to Friday 8am to 8pm and 
Saturday 8am to 4pm

0800 138 1111
https://www.stepchange.org

National Debt Line 9am-8pm Monday to Friday; website 
with live chat

0808 808 4000
https://tools.nationaldebtline.org/
yourbudget

Prince’s Trust Money Management Debt Line, 
website with live chat

0800 842 842
www.princes-trust.org.uk/help-for-
young-people/tools-resources

Money Helper Website with live chat 0800 0113797
www.moneyhelper.org.uk/en/
everyday-money/budgeting

The Money Charity https://themoneycharity.org.uk/
workshops-webinars/young-people/

Turn 2 US www.turn2us.org.uk

31

Page 99



Key Contact Number Description Contact

Benefits

Department for Work and Pensions www.gov.uk 0800 731 0469 (free)

- Existing benefit claims only 0800 169 0310 (free)

Other support services

Adult Social Care 01952 385385 www.telford.gov.uk

Buttle Trust 020 7828 7311 www.buttleuk.org

National Youth Advocacy Service 0808 808 1001 www.nyas.net

The Care Leavers Foundation 01678 540598 
thecareleaversfoundation.org

Bee U 0300 124 0093 beeu.org.uk

Become 0800 023 2033 
www.becomecharity.org.uk

West Mercia Youth Offending Service 01952 385985 or email telford.
team.wmyos@westmercia.pnn.
police.uk

YSS 01905 730780 www.yss.org

Rees Foundation Help and advice to care experienced 
young people

0330 094 5645 or email contactus@
reesfoundation.org or online 
www.reesfoundation.org

We can also help put you in touch with organisations that can give you advice and support:

Catch 22 Deliver holistic support to care leavers 
and run the National Leaving Care 
Benching Marking Forum and Young 
People’s Benchmarking Forum

Catch-22.org.uk

Solicitor www.lawsociety.org.uk/find-a-
solicitor

Care Leavers Association www.careleavers.com 
0161 826 0214

Refugee Council www.refugeecouncil.org.uk 020 
7346 6700

New Horizon Youth Centre www.nhyouthcentre.org.uk 020 
7388 5580

Coram National advocacy service for care 
leavers, providing free advocacy. They 
also have a legal centre for children 
and migrants – Voice.

www.voiceyp.org 
0808 800 5792 or email help@
coramvoice.org.uk

IMO Information and stories from other care 
experienced young people.

www.imohub.org.uk

Young Lives Foundation www.ylf.org.uk 
0808 164009

32

Page 100



NOTES

33

Page 101



NOTES

Page 102



NOTES

Page 103



Page 104



Safer stronger neighbourhoods through the appropriate use of our 

enforcement powers 

 

“Telford & Wrekin Council’s neighbourhood enforcement and public protection teams 

continue to keep residents, businesses, and visitors safe, adapting continuously to the new 

challenges a changing society brings with it. 

“These teams work closely with police and other partners using intelligence, data and the 

views of residents to shape appropriate activities. The team also continues to secure 

external sources of funding in support of these commitments. 

“The council is working to make things safer in every sense, from tackling fly-tippers, 

supporting victims of anti-social behaviour, educating people about parking around schools 

and ensuring food hygiene standards, right through to safer bars and clubs, taxis home and 

street lighting to make sure all neighbourhoods are great places to live. 

“Keeping an eye over all of this and many other exercises, are two new closed-circuit 

television (CCTV) suites monitoring around 700 cameras and a fleet of enforcement vehicles. 

“Our work has seen a 40% reduction in fly-tipping, 10% reduction in anti-social behaviour 

and 60 taxi license breaches issued as well as launching a pilot into taxi CCTV. Not only that, 

we’ve issued 189 fines for environmental crimes.” 

 

  

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Borough of Telford and Wrekin 

 Cabinet  

Tuesday 16 March 2023 

Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through the  

Appropriate use of our Enforcement Powers 

 
 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Richard Overton - Deputy Leader and Cabinet 

Member: Housing, Enforcement and Transport 

Lead Director: Dean Sargeant - Director: Neighbourhood & Enforcement 

Services 

Service Area: Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services 

Report Author: Paul Fenn - Neighbourhood Enforcement Manager      

Anita Hunt - Public Protection Group Manager 

Officer Contact Details: Tel:  01952 381818 Email: paul.fenn@telford.gov.uk, 

   anita.hunt@telford.gov.uk 

Wards Affected: All Wards  

Key Decision: Key Decision 

Forward Plan: Yes - 15 November 2022 

Report considered by: SMT - 14 February 2023 

Business Briefing - 2 March 2023 

Cabinet - 16 March 2023 

 

 

 
1.0 Recommendations for decision/noting: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 
1.1 Note enforcement activity undertaken by Public Protection and Neighbourhood 

Enforcement teams during 2022 to keep residents, businesses and visitors safe. 

Page 107



Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate use of our Enforcement 
Powers 
 

2 
 

1.2 Note the Strong Leader Decision made on 24 January 2023 approving the 
reduction to the early payment discount for Fixed Penalty Notices relating to fly 
tipping from £200 to £350 if the penalty is paid within 10 days of the notice being 
issued. 
 

1.3 Delegate approval to the Director of Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services in 
consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member: Housing, Enforcement 
and Transport to review and implement changes where required to the Fixed 
Penalty Fines as set out in the Environmental Enforcement Fixed Penalty Notice 
Policy as adopted in 2017. 
 

1.4 Approve the priority areas of focus for the year ahead as outlined in this report. 

 

2.0 Purpose of Report 

2.1 As a council that is on the side of residents, the Council fulfils a variety of 
enforcement duties spanning a number of services.  This report focuses on activity 
undertaken by the Neighbourhood Enforcement and Public Protection teams who 
work to protect and support our residents, businesses and those who visit the 
borough.  Cabinet will receive specific updates on Housing and Planning 
enforcement as part of future reports. 

 
2.2 This report clearly demonstrates that Enforcement is a key priority for the Council, 

but that there is a focus on consistency, education and lastly enforcement.  There 
is a strong emphasis on partnership working that utilises available enforcement 
tools and powers to keep our neighbourhoods clean, safe and green. 

 

2.3 This report also provides an update on the Strong Leader decision made on 24 
January 2023 approving the reduction to the early payment discount for Fixed 
Penalty Notices relating to fly tipping from £200 to £350 if the penalty is paid within 
10 days of the notice being issued.   

 
2.4 In addition, this report seeks approval to delegate authority to the Director of 

Neighbourhood & Enforcement Services in consultation with the Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet Member: Housing, Enforcement and Transport to review and where 
necessary implement changes to the Environmental Enforcement Fixed Penalty 
Notice Policy. 

 
3.0       Background 

3.1 As part of our work to Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough, 
enforcement duties have played a key part in complementing the £2.5m Building 
Safer and Stronger Communities programme while the borough wide CCTV 
network continues to provide support and reassurance.  The councils approach to 
all enforcement activities follow key principles to ensure our actions are 
proportionate, necessary and in the public interest.  Partnership working has 
secured approximately £3.5m of funding from Safer Streets programme as well as 
the Police & Crime Commissioner, Community Safety Partnership and 
Town/Parish Councils.  The council will continue to explore funding opportunities 

Page 108



Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate use of our Enforcement 
Powers 
 

3 
 

that enables the development and continuation of enforcement activity that 
supports residents, businesses and visitors. 

 
3.2 The council continues to support and actively engage in ‘Multi Agency Targeted 

Enforcement’ activity (MATES) across a wide variety of settings, including serious 
and organised crime. During 2022 the team completed 57 exercises covering:     

 

 Licensed Premises 

 Anti-social behaviour 

 Use of quad bikes and scramblers  

 County lines 

 illicit Tobacco & Vapes 

 Age restricted products  

 Taxi, Private Hire & scrap metal vehicles  

 Illegally handling of waste 

 Accumulation of waste 

 Begging & Shoplifting 
 
3.3  The graphic below provides a summary of the impact of the enforcement activity 

undertaken by the Public Protection and Neighbourhood Enforcement teams 
during 2022. 

 

 
 

Page 109



Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate use of our Enforcement 
Powers 
 

4 
 

Neighbourhood Enforcement 
 
3.4 The Neighbourhood Enforcement team have a number of key priorities, tackling 

problem parking through civil parking enforcement as well as tackling 
environmental crimes such as littering, fly tipping, dog fouling and abandoned 
vehicles. Since January 2022, the team have investigated 5,784 fly tips and issued 
138 fixed penalty notices with over 270 warning letters issued for fly tipping.  This 
focus and partnership working with Town and Parish Councils, via the Community 
Action Teams, as well as the Building Safer & Stronger Communities programme, 
has seen an overall reduction of over 40% in fly tipping since April 2021. 

 
3.5 The approach to parking enforcement has continued to evolve and adopt best 

practice since transfer of the function from West Mercia Police to the council in 
2020.  During 2022, the teams approach to civil parking enforcement has seen 
over 8,800 more parking visits undertaken to ensure safe and considerate parking; 
in many areas this has been complemented by an increase in patrols outside 
schools, with over 1,500 being completed in 2022.  There has been over 1,000 
more patrols undertaken in 2022 to tackle litter and dog fouling which 
complements the Public Spaces Protection Order introduced in July 2022. 

 

 
 

 
3.6  Cabinet will recall the launch of the £2.6m Community Action Teams (CAT) with 

partnering Town and Parish Council’s in April 2021.  13 Town and Parish Councils 
signed up to this jointly funded service which has been highly successful.  Days of 
action via the CAT teams have continued during 2022 with at least one being 
delivered per month. These multi-agency days have support from service areas 
from across the council, West Mercia Police, Wrekin Housing Group, Veolia and 
Ward Members.  This has resulted in FPN’s for fly tipping being issued as well as 
positive engagement with the community. 

 

3.7 Neighbourhood enforcement and community engagement will shortly be enhanced 
through deployment of the Mobile Enforcement Hub, this hub will be used by 

Page 110



Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate use of our Enforcement 
Powers 
 

5 
 

service areas from across the council to engage with communities on a range of 
concerns in their local area. 

 

 

3.8 Telford & Wrekin Watch has continued to engage with the community on tackling 
fly tipping.  There have been a number of appeals for information relating to fly 
tipping incidents undertaken as well as activity to increase awareness on 
successful prosecutions.  Almost 300 residents are signed up to receive regular 
updates.  Although primarily focusing on fly tipping, during 2022 Telford & Wrekin 
Watch will expand to cover other areas such as anti-social behaviour, graffiti, 
littering, doorstep crime and illegal scrap metal collectors and will continue to 
develop in 2023. 

 
 Anti-Social Behaviour  
  
3.9 Tackling anti-social behaviour continues to be a priority for the council; during the 

last 12 months, there have been many positive interventions delivered through 
Safer Streets 2 in Sutton Hill and recently launched Safer Streets 4 in Wellington 
as well as the Building Safer and Stronger Communities investment.  This has 
supported the deployment of additional CCTV as well as an increased presence 
from West Mercia Police and enforcement officers. The continued use of available 
tools and powers has led to an increase in Community Protection Notices 
compared with 2021. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate use of our Enforcement 
Powers 
 

6 
 

Borough Wide CCTV   
  
3.10 The use of CCTV continues to be a key component supporting the detection and 

prevention of crime and disorder.  The council has continued to see inward 
investment into the system, with over 700 cameras now installed and live 
monitoring across the Borough, some of which include solar powered units.   

 
3.11 The council’s investment, supported by successful Safer Streets bids as well as 

the Building Safer and Stronger Communities investment, ensures that the council 
has a fit for purpose system that promotes public confidence, provides 
reassurance and supports West Mercia Police with ongoing investigations.   

 
3.12  The CCTV infrastructure has been recently bolstered by a Mobile CCTV Unit.  The 

mobile unit will be deployed across the borough providing further reassurance to 
local communities while giving opportunity to engage with the community to work 
with the council in keeping our neighbourhoods clean, safe and green. 

 

   
Mobile CCTV Unit 

 

    
Significant CCTV investment into Southwater One. 

Environmental Protection 
 

3.13 The council’s Environmental Protection Team focus on statutory functions 
including air quality monitoring while investigating complaints regarding smoke, 
drainage and waste accumulations.  Unlike many areas across the country, there 

Page 112



Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate use of our Enforcement 
Powers 
 

7 
 

is no air quality management area (AQMA) in the borough with air quality 
monitoring demonstrating compliance with national thresholds.  
 

3.14  In September 2022, the council submitted a £147,000, bid to the Department for 
Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (Defra) to deliver initiatives that will raise 
awareness on sources of air pollution and ways in which we can all have a positive 
impact on reducing air quality.  The deliverables as outlined in the bid will be 
delivered during 2023. 

 
Licensing 

 
3.15 The council’s licensing team continue to support the administration and 

compliance monitoring for a variety of licences, including taxis, alcohol, street 
trading, scrap metal, animal establishments, gambling and park homes.  During 
2022 over 120 compliance inspections have been undertaken across a variety of 
licensed businesses including:  

 

 Pubs, clubs, off licences and late night takeaways; 

 Dog breeders, kennels and day boarding, riding schools and zoo’s 

 Betting shops; 

 Park homes; 

 Taxi operators; 

 Street traders and events; 

3.16 Over 70% of businesses inspected were complaint with officers working with those 
where standards fell short.  This has been followed up with revisits to ensure 
necessary controls are in place and licencing conditions are being adhered to.  

 
3.17 Management and monitoring of both hackney and private hire taxis are a priority 

for the council with the number of licenses increasing compared with 2021.   
 
3.18 Regular spot checks take place across the borough including at night and during 

weekends. During 2022, over 175 vehicles were checked with 65% being 
compliant with licensing conditions.  All non-complaint vehicles were issued with a 
time limited notice detailing the work required; this was followed up to ensure 
actions were complete. 

 

 
 

Page 113



Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate use of our Enforcement 
Powers 
 

8 
 

3.19 Securing funding via the Community Safety Partnership, the council is trialling 
CCTV in taxis licensed by Telford & Wrekin Council.  The pilot was launched in 
December 2022 and 20 vehicles have had CCTV fitted.  In maximising this pilot to 
inform next steps, a passenger and driver survey is being undertaken to explore 
possible benefits of installing CCTV in taxis on a larger scale.   Taxi’s that have 
CCTV are supplied with the graphic as outlined below.  

 

 
Trading Standards 

 
3.20 The Trading Standards team ensure that consumer protection standards in the 

borough continue to be maintained. The team’s work continues to be based on 
intelligence, reacting to complaints and dealing with businesses that pose a risk to 
consumers through the distribution of unsafe or illegal products or activities that 
are fraudulent and cause financial detriment to residents.   

 

3.21 In 2022, the team, working with partners, seized 25,000 cigarettes and over 5kg of 
illicit and counterfeit tobacco products from premises, with a retail value of £17,000. 
This work has resulted in a review of a licence and issue of cautions.  

3.22 2022 has seen an increase in the availability of illegal nicotine inhaling devices 
(vapes) across the country. The illegal products contain more nicotine than 
permitted and typically can appeal to those under 18.  The team have taken 
targeted action to remove such goods from sale across the borough to protect our 
residents as well as legitimate traders. During 2022, the council has seized 
approximately 2000 illegal vapes valued at an estimated £20,000. 

 

Page 114



Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate use of our Enforcement 
Powers 
 

9 
 

Night Time Economy 

3.23  The council has continued to undertake various roles that support our night time 
economy.  During 2022 the night time economy team undertook 37 operations 
focussing on licensed premises, noise/nuisance and taxi compliance.  The team 
have completed over 80 inspections of licensed businesses covering pubs, clubs, 
nightclubs, off licences and late night takeaways.  

 

3.24 Furthermore, the team have continued to carry out regular compliance inspections 
on taxi’s and private hire vehicles with neighbouring licensing authorities to ensure 
compliance and reduce plying for hire.  A taxi marshal service has also been 
provided during 2022 and will continue into 2023; taxi marshals support the night 
time economy to ensure everyone gets home safely. 

3.25 In December 2022, the council successfully launched the Licensing Safety and 
Vulnerability initiative (LSAVI) as part of our continued focus on tackling Violence 
against Women and Girls.  Over 80 licensees attended the launch event with over 
50 signed up to complete self-assessment tool that explores how licensed 
premises provide a safe and secure environment for staff, customers and the local 
community.  

4.0  Summary of main proposals 
 
4.1 The Council fulfils a variety of enforcement duties across a number of services 

including: 
 

 Neighbourhood Enforcement; 

 Environmental Protection; 

 Anti-Social Behaviour;  

 CCTV Monitoring & Deployment; 

 Civil Parking Enforcement; 

 Event management and Security; 

 Trading standards & Consumer Protection; 
 Licensing & Night- time Economy;  

4.2 Appropriate use of enforcement powers and partnership working is demonstrated 
through the successful delivery of the Safer Streets programme, which to date 

Page 115



Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate use of our Enforcement 
Powers 
 

10 
 

has seen £1,470,000 invested across Brookside, Sutton Hill, College and Arleston 
wards through the Home Office supported Safer Streets programme.  

 
4.3 As a council who is on the side of residents, this report summarises the significant 

action has been undertaken during the last 12 months to ensure our 
neighbourhoods are a great place to live, work and visit. 

5 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 There are several statutory functions that the council is required to effectively 

deliver; this is monitored through performance reporting to national government 
bodies.  

 
5.2 The approach taken to enforcement is to engage, educate and where necessary 

enforce.  This ensures a fair and consistent approach is provided to support 
residents and complaint traders. 

 
5.3 A review of the 2017 Environmental Enforcement Fixed Penalty Notice Policy will 

ensure penalty charges are in line with current policy and relative to the notice 
being enforced.  

 
6.0 Key Risks 
 
6.1 There is always the risk of challenge and right to appeal by those who are issued 

with notices or penalty charges.  However, such appeal and challenge is mitigated 
through robust process and compliance with necessary legislation to ensure those 
who do not comply are tackled.    

 
7.0 Council Priorities 
 
7.1 The report supports the following Council priorities 
 

 Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community 

 Everyone benefits from a thriving economy 

 All neighbourhoods are a great place to live 

 Our natural environment is protected, and the Council is taking a leading role in 
tackling the climate emergency 

 A community-focussed, innovative council providing efficient, effective and 
quality services. 

8.0 Financial Implications 
 
8.1 The costs of the enforcement activity outlined in this report have been met by a 

number different funding sources including the Council’s base budget, earmarked 
reserves and PCC grants. Income is also received from the issuing of fixed penalty 
notices, fines from civil parking enforcement and licensing fees/charges. 

 
8.2  The Community Action Teams are jointly funded by the Council and Town and 

Parish Councils who signed up to the partnership deal. Funding under the current 
partnership deal runs to the end of 2023/24.  

Page 116



Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate use of our Enforcement 
Powers 
 

11 
 

 
9.0 Legal and HR Implications 
 
9.1 The Council has multiple enforcement powers contained within legislation which 

relate to functions and duties across a number of services areas. In many areas 
the legislation is supplemented by policy. The Council use these enforcement 
powers to investigate, gather intelligence and take appropriate action to protect 
residents and businesses in the Borough. 

 
9.2 Powers contained within legislation relating to environmental, anti-social 

behaviour, consumer protection and licensing offences have been delegated to 
Enforcement Officers. This is in addition to civil enforcement powers which 
enables officers to carry out investigations, issue fixed penalty or other statutory 
notices, or to refer offences for prosecution where appropriate. 

 
9.3 The proposals contained in this report can be delivered using existing resources. 
 
10.0 Ward Implications 
 
10.1 This report covers all wards and enforcement activity is borough wide. 
 
11.0 Health, Social and Economic Implications 
 
11.1 A firm and transparent approach to enforcement activity supports compliance, 

reduces crime and tackles anti-social behaviour – all of which is welcomed by 
residents and businesses across the Borough. 

 
11.2 Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK as it can 

cause chronic conditions such as cardiovascular and respiratory diseases as well 
as lung cancer, leading to reduced life expectancy.  Regular monitoring and 
compliance check ensures the air quality in the borough is compliant with national 
thresholds. 

 
11.3 Trading Standards impacts on the health and wellbeing of our residents.  A priority 

focus of tackling illegal and counterfeit tobacco and ensures that our young people 
do not access restricted products, such as vapes, cigarettes and alcohol and 
contributes to the council’s public health and wellbeing strategy.   

 
11.4 Doorstep crime and rogue trading activity has a significant impact on our resident’s 

health and financial situation. If left unregulated it can cause significant long term 
effects on resident’s confidence and independence, resulting in more pressure on 
adult social care services.  This work also contributes to protecting the economic 
interests of our legitimate businesses. 

 
12.0 Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
12.1 Enforcement activity is compliant with legislation and a fair and consistent 

approach is adopted.  
 

Page 117



Building Safer & Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate use of our Enforcement 
Powers 
 

12 
 

12.2 Doorstep crime and scams has an impact on the lives of those effected; social 
isolation, health and mobility issues increase in some cases can increase 
likelihood of vulnerable individuals becoming repeat victims of crime. Trading 
Standards work to gather intelligence and disrupt such activity while supporting 
residents through offering real time advice to ensure vulnerable residents are 
supported. 

 
13.0 Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
13.1 Tackling fly tipping, dog fouling and littering all have a positive impact on the 

quality of the environment.  A sustained focus on fly tipping alongside 
development of Telford & Wrekin Watch has seen a reduction in fly tipping of over 
40% across the borough since April 2021.  While this is positive, there is more that 
can be done to tackle this issue. 

 
13.2 Compliance and licensing checks ensure that taxis licensed by Telford & Wrekin 

Council comply with the vehicle licensing standards with any non-compliance 
requiring swift resolution.  Where issues are discovered in taxis licensed by 
neighbouring authorities, this information is passed over to them for action and 
respond.  

 
13.3 Air quality monitoring ensures compliance with national thresholds and this 

reported to Defra on an annual basis.  Delivery of the Air Quality Bid will develop 
initiatives to improve awareness and engagement on air quality while tackling 
issues such as idling engines outside schools. 

 

14.0  Background Papers 
 
14.1 None 
 
15.0  Appendices 
 
15.1 None 
 
16.0  Report Sign Off 
 
Signed off by Date sent Date signed off Initials  
Director 10/02/23 10/02/23 DS 
Legal 21/03/23 21/03/23 SH 
Finance 20/02/23 21/02/23 MLB 

 

Page 118


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Cost of Living Strategy Update
	Cost of Living Strategy  - Cabinet

	6 Invest Telford Performance Report
	Invest Telford Cabinet - 160323

	7 Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer
	Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer Report
	Appendix 1 for Protected Characteristic for Care Leavers and Local Offer

	8 Safer And Stronger Neighbourhoods Through The Appropriate Use Of Our Enforcement Powers
	SAFER AND STRONGER NEIGHBOURHOODS THROUGH THE APPROPRIATE USE OF OUR ENFORCEMENT POWERS_ Final


